

### **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Strategies for Achieving Patient-Centered Healthcare and Cost Containment

Quincy Von Handy Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the <u>Health and Medical Administration Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Quincy V. Handy

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Chad Sines, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

#### Abstract

Strategies for Achieving Patient-Centered Healthcare and Cost Containment

by

Quincy V. Handy

MSS, United States Army War College, 2010

MPA, University of Baltimore, 2007

BS, Morgan State University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2019

#### Abstract

Implementing successful value-centered care strategies that support patient-centeredness while reducing cost is a significant challenge for healthcare leaders. In 2001, the Committee on Quality of Healthcare in America and the Institute of Medicine identified patient-centeredness as 1 of 6 improvement goals to improve quality of care for the 21st century. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore patient-centered strategies that healthcare managers used to reduce the cost of healthcare for elderly patients without reducing the quality of patient care. The conceptual framework that grounded this study was patient-centered care, and the opposing theory was the primary care team model. Data were collected using semistructured interviews with 6 healthcare leaders selected via purposive sampling throughout Virginia and a review of healthcare facilities' documents and website pages. Data were analyzed using Yin's 5-step process, which led to the identification of 4 themes. Themes that emerged from the study included patient-centered care matters, management leadership strategies, control methods for monitoring costs, and maximizing community healthcare services. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to improve the delivery of healthcare for elderly patients and access to quality patient-centered care that supports cost-reducing strategies healthcare managers can employ to increase profits through value-based healthcare.

## Strategies for Achieving Patient-Centered Healthcare and Cost Containment

by

Quincy V. Handy

MSS, United States Army War College, 2010

MPA, University of Baltimore, 2007

BS, Morgan State University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2019

#### Dedication

I dedicate this study to my beloved father, Francis R. Handy (d. 2003) and mother, Dolores A. Handy (d. 2017). I know you both are looking down from above and cheering me on. The fire you instilled in me of life-long learning burns brighter than ever, Thank you. To my daughters Misha and Ashley: The struggles, trials, and impediments that it takes to succeed in life are what makes success more valuable. Never give up on your dreams and desires and always reach for the stars. To my wife: Georgina, thanks for being patient and supported throughout my doctoral journey. I know my absences in events were numerous, but your steadfast love and encouragement for my success never dwindled; I will never forget.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I give praise and honor to my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for all that He has done for me. To my committee chair, Dr. Chad Sines, and second committee member, Dr. Jaime Klein, my deepest gratitude for your professionalism and guidance throughout this process. To my doctoral colleagues, thank you for all of your support. To my brother, Quintin Handy, Fraternity brother Wendell Bugg, and lifelong battle buddy Victor Ingram thank you for your words of encouragement and being a sounding board. To my Fraternity brother, Dr. Stefan Sherman, thank you for your steadfast mentoring throughout my doctoral journey. To my fraternity brother (LB) Dr. Jack R.M. Pierce Sr. for planting the seed in me to pursue an advanced degree thirty years ago.

.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	9
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	11
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
Patient-Centered Care	14
Assessing Patient-Centered Care	18
Alternative Approaches	19

	Patient-Centered Care as a Measurement Within Healthcare	21
	Patient-Centered Care Within the Affordable Care Act	24
	How Patient-Centered Care Emerged to its Relevance in Today Healthcare	
	Delivery	30
	Patient-Centered Care within a Value-Centered Healthcare Model	31
	Value-Based Purchasing	35
	The Patient-Centered Medical Home	40
	Healthcare Leadership and Continuous Quality Improvement	44
	Transition	44
Se	ction 2: The Project	46
	Purpose Statement	46
	Role of the Researcher	46
	Participants	48
	Research Method and Design	51
	Research Method	51
	Research Design	53
	Population and Sampling	55
	Ethical Research	58
	Data Collection Instruments	59
	Data Collection Technique	63
	Data Organization Technique	65
	Data Analysis	66

Reliability and Validity	68
Reliability	69
Validity	70
Transition and Summary	73
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	75
Introduction	75
Presentation of the Findings.	75
Theme 1: Patient-Centered Care Matters	78
Theme 2: Leadership Strategies	81
Theme 3: Cost Reduction Strategies	83
Theme 4: Maximizing Community Healthcare Services	87
Applications to Professional Practice	90
Implications for Social Change	92
Recommendations for Action	93
Recommendations for Further Research	94
Reflections	95
Conclusion	96
References	98
Appendix A: Study Protocol	144
Appendix B: Interview Questions	146

# List of Tables

Table 1. Details of Literature Review by Year of Publication	13
Table 2. Frequency of Themes and Number of Participants	77

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In 2001, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) established patient-centeredness as one of six goals for refining the U.S. healthcare system (Zill, Scholl, Härter, & Dirmaier, 2015). In the United States and throughout many other industrialized nations, patientcentered care (PCC) is one of several strategic goals pursued by healthcare organizations (Price & Elliott, 2018). The cost shared by patients continues to increase, while the medical insurance provided to most elderly patients in the form of Medicare continues to decrease (Altman & Frist, 2015). As such, efforts by healthcare managers to mitigate cost and increase quality as stipulated within the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) could necessitate requirements that healthcare managers might find difficult to achieve (Delmatoff & Lazarus, 2015). Notwithstanding, costs within the U.S. healthcare system continue to soar, while quality care spirals downward for many Americans (Hosseini, 2015). To help mitigate the cost of healthcare, a growing body of healthcare managers and scholars consider PCC as indispensable for reducing cost and delivering an improved quality healthcare system (Rahul, Press, & Conway, 2015). I analyzed the strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Bartels, Gill, and Naslund (2015) stated the PPACA signifies the most significant legislative change in the U.S. healthcare system in nearly half a century. The PPACA provides provisions designed to reduce costs and encourage the development of new systems of healthcare delivery by monitoring outcomes and efficiency. Since the

inception of the Medicare and Medicaid programs in 1965, a substantial portion of Americans benefited from a system that provides health and welfare benefits for aging adults, disabled Americans, and others by reducing out of pocket medical expenses (Blumenthal, Davis, & Guterman, 2015). In 1992, Medicare introduced the resourcebased relative value scale to correlate the reimbursement with the actual cost of providing service and to reward rational thinking rather than adherence to procedures (Diebel, 2015). Historically, the Medicare program is a defined-benefit program whereby the U.S. Government subsidizes a portion of a patient's health benefits. However, some legislators are proposing the Medicare program become a defined-contribution system that would greatly reduce the payment of services and medical goods passing the cost to beneficiaries (Rivlin & Daniel, 2015). The impact of this action would directly affect Medicare-dependent aging adults' quality healthcare, which makes up more than 55% of all Medicare cost (Tsai et al., 2016). Hence, the healthcare industry is struggling to determine the best model to deliver quality-valued healthcare service for aging Medicare patients in an era where time and service are principal cost factors. The desire to employ a value-centered healthcare model should influence how medical facility managers develop strategies to provide sustained medical services while implementing effective cost control measures to meet shareholders' expectations.

#### **Problem Statement**

In 2014, Americans spent \$2.9 trillion or \$9,255 per person on healthcare, the highest per capita among developed nations. However, the World Health Organization ranks the U.S healthcare system 37th among all nations in performance (McGinnis, Diaz,

& Halfon, 2016). Medicare spending grew 3.4% to \$585.7 billion in 2013, reflecting both the aging population and the increasing cost of healthcare (Martin, Hartman, Washington, & Catlin, 2017). The general business problem is some medical facilities managers' are unable to mitigate rising individual medical costs for the elderly while maintaining or improving healthcare service quality within the PCC model. The specific business problem is some healthcare managers lack patient-centered strategies to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive multiple case study was to explore what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. The participants consisted of six midlevel healthcare managers from several departments located at six full-service acute care facilities in Virginia who reduced the cost of patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. Conducting this study may lead to positive social change for elderly patients by improving the delivery and access of quality PCC while catalyzing, developing, and implementing cost reduction strategies that healthcare managers can employ to make healthcare more accessible.

#### **Nature of the Study**

I conducted this study using a qualitative descriptive case study approach. Sutton and Austin (2015) recommended the use of a qualitative method for studying attitudes and beliefs held by individuals to evaluate similar themes. The focus of this study was to explore patient-centered strategies from the perspective of the healthcare manager, thus

making the qualitative method appropriate for this study. Ali and May (2017) stated the phenomenon of PCC is complex and multidimensional. As such, a qualitative case study was the most appropriate design for this study. I used open ended, semistructured interview questions that explore strategies healthcare managers use as they deal with the complexities of providing quality patient care. In contrast, quantitative research is deductive, whereby the researcher formulates a set of hypotheses to test the relationships of two or more variables or the differences between two or more groups (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Because I was not comparing variables, a quantitative method was not appropriate. A mixed methods approach is beneficial for researchers seeking to observe a situation in its natural state as well as provide a comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon from a statistical perspective (Kaur, 2016). Without a quantitative component, a mixed methods approach was also not appropriate.

Yin (2014) and Yazan (2015) stated researchers prefer the descriptive case study method when conducting qualitative research by questioning *how* or *what*. The focus is on an existing phenomenon within a real-life environment. I considered other qualitative designs, for example, ethnography and narrative to conduct my study. Draper (2015) stated a researcher would use an ethnographic design to explore the culture and perspectives of a group in its natural setting. Because I did not explore culture, an ethnographic design was not appropriate. A narrative method was not appropriate for this study, as I did not focus on a participants' biography or life story (Gill, 2014).

#### **Research Question**

The overarching research question driving this study was:

RQ: What patient-centered strategies do healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. How do you, as a healthcare manager, view patient-centered strategies, for example, patient-centered medical homes, accountable care organizations, person-centered care, person-focus care, and client-centered care, as a means of reducing the cost of elderly patient healthcare?
- 2. What are the advantages of patient-centered strategies in reducing elderly healthcare costs?
- 3. What patient-centered strategies have the board of directors supported to improve healthcare delivery and operational cost?
- 4. How do you measure the effectiveness of patient-centered strategies?
- 5. How did your organization address key challenges to implement successful patient-centered strategies without reducing the quality of elderly patient care?
- 6. How do you communicate patient-centered strategies with staff at all levels to improve quality care and reduce the cost of elderly patient care?
- 7. How, if at all, has the PPACA affected your ability to implement patientcentered strategies and maintain quality patient care?
- 8. How will your organization address the cost of delivering patient-centered strategies for elderly patients if Congress restructures the Medicare Trust Fund?

- 9. How will your patient-centered care strategies improve the quality of care and fit into the healthcare reform movement?
- 10. What other information would you like to add that these questions might not have addressed?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The core principles of a value-centered healthcare model stems from Fayanju et al.'s (2016) research on the foundation for defining patient-centeredness. The patient-centered theory is an evolutionary development based on the psychologist Carl Rogers' person-centered approach in 1940 (Miller & Moyers, 2017). Crisp (2018) stated Rogers' theory focuses on a person's trust of their innate tendency (known as the actualizing tendency) of human beings to find the fulfillment of their potentials. Rogers emphasized a client-centered therapy that supported empowering the patient as the central focus for the delivery of care, for example, PCC (Crisp, 2018; Frankel, Johnson, & Polak, 2016).

The core principles of a value-centered healthcare model emphasizes the following attributes of PCC: access, continuity, comprehensiveness, coordination and communication, cultural competency, family and person focus, and payment alignment. Locatelli, Hill et al. (2015) expanded on the conceptual framework of PCC by synthesizing previous theoretical and empirical work on organizational change with an emphasis on patient-centered innovations. Piña et al. (2015) noted healthcare organization leaders have determined that developing innovation among their various staff organizations is challenging. The view that full-service acute care hospitals are complex adaptive systems that are ever changing, reactive, proactive, and distinctive

within a natural environment sets the conditions for the conceptual framework for this study. Overall, the patient-centered model applies to multiple organizations and populations. Also, using the patient-centered model enables researchers to focus on the value-centered healthcare business model.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Acute care facility: An acute care facility is an inpatient medical facility where patients receive constant medical care for periods of less than 25 days (Koenig, Demiralp, Saavoss, & Zhang, 2015).

Ambulatory care facility: An ambulatory care facility is a medical facility that provides outpatient care that includes diagnosis, observation, consultation, treatment, intervention, and rehabilitation service (Martin-Misener et al., 2015).

Fee-for-service: Fee-for-service is where medical providers receive payment for services rendered by unbundling services paid for separately. In healthcare, private insurers and the government provide incentives to physicians based on treatments, because payment is dependent on the quantity of care, rather than the quality of care. (Zuvekas & Cohen, 2016).

Managed care: Managed care is a health insurance network that manages medical care through established contractual agreements between providers and patients (Baicker & Robbins, 2015).

Patient-centered care: PCC is a type of medical care respectful of, and responsive to, an individual patient's preferences, needs, and values, ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions (Zill et al., 2015).

Patient- and family-centered care: Patient- and family-centered care is a model focusing on partnerships among practitioners, patients, and their families or care partners to ensure that decisions respect patients' wants, needs, and preferences (Rawson & Moretz, 2016).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Understanding the complexities healthcare managers encounter when meeting their patients' needs and those of their shareholders are challenging tasks complicated by healthcare policies, cost, and the community they serve. Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations support a researcher's ability to focus their study on the participants' lived experience and gain insight from participants' personal experience (Goldberg & Allen, 2015).

In the following subsections, I discuss facts assumed to be true, limitations that might constrict the study, and delimitations that focus the scope of the study on what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care.

#### Assumptions

Berssaneti and Carvalho (2015) stated an assumption is a variable independent of the scope of a study as defined by the researcher. Assumptions are facts presumed true but not confirmed. Goldberg and Allen (2015) stated the researcher should verify their assumptions with the interviewee to confirm their validity. Likewise, Wright, Wahoush, Ballantyne, Gabel, & Jack (2016) stated a researcher formulates their assumptions based on perceptions derived from known truths. When I began this study, I developed several

assumptions. First, I assumed the participants would respond truthfully. Second, I assumed that healthcare managers would strive to put patients' care and needs first.

Third, I assumed a healthcare manager's success is dependent on the quality of the actual value-care delivered.

#### Limitations

Schulenkorf, Sherry, and Rowe (2016) stated limitations are constraints that occur beyond the control of the researcher that could potentially affect the study. Hence, a limitation existed because of the potential difficulty in understanding the expectations of all healthcare leaders who support this study. Another potential limitation involved the sample size, which might not have proven to be representative of the healthcare leadership population of hospitals throughout all regions. Lastly, findings from the geographical area of the study might not apply to other regions with different socioeconomic challenges, access to employment, and opportunities for advancement. Lewin et al. (2015) stated other limitations to a study could derive from the respondents' level of trustworthiness and the probability of bias with the participants' interviews.

#### **Delimitations**

Yazan (2015) stated delimitations are the restrictions the researcher sets for the scope of the study to define the boundaries. Likewise, Rule and John (2015) discussed a researcher's initial theory of a case aids in providing the thematic emphases and design of delimitations. Similarly, Nakrem (2015) indicated that understanding a hospital's culture can vary based on the facility. Hence, the selection of a healthcare facility management

team could have delimited this study. Marshall and Rossman (2016) stated delimitations are boundaries chosen by the researcher. Rural Virginia was a boundary for this study.

Furthermore, the researcher's scope of research questions could be a delimiting factor. A study's delimitation could affect the results and any conclusions drawn from the researcher's analysis. Baškarada (2014) stated choosing a case study design may be a limitation of a study. I focused on nonmedical providers and not the abundance of medical professionals who are direct providers of PCC delivery.

#### Significance of the Study

The significance of this study lies in the potential for identifying efficacious patient-centered strategies that reduce cost without compromising the quality of care in hospitals that provide services for patients located in rural Virginia. Administrators who study business strategies may learn how to develop, deploy, and implement patient-centered strategies to reduce ambulatory and acute cost (Galarraga & Pines, 2016). The information from this study could add value to the healthcare field through identifying and exploring successful strategies established by managers who use patient-centered strategies developed and employed within a healthcare business model from the healthcare manager's perspective. As healthcare administrators adjust to providing strategies that support ACA legislation through 2020 (Gaffney & McCormick, 2017), the future effects of this reform may challenge medical facility managers to implement strategies that mitigate costs. Moreover, hospital administrators with limited patient-centered strategies may learn to develop and implement other patient-care strategies to achieve lower costs for Medicare-dependent patients (Tsai et al., 2016).

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Healthcare leaders must understand that leadership is about teamwork and building relationships (Allison, 2015). As well, healthcare leaders must understand the importance of prioritizing the patient in all decisions. Consequently, as each generation ages, chronic diseases and increasing comorbidities will continue to influence the costs of care. Understanding how healthcare leaders develop plans and strategies to meet patients' needs while mitigating cost will lead to improving efficiencies, preserving hospital resources, and improving stakeholder engagement for their facility's near-term and long-term success (Pizzo & Cohen, 2016).

#### **Implications for Social Change**

From a social change viewpoint, results from this study may be valuable to assist healthcare administrators to create and develop effective patient-centered strategies. Elderly patients seeking healthcare could realize both economic and social gains through improved patient-centered strategies that improve and support quality care (Pizzo & Cohen, 2016). Several comprehensive models of care have emerged to limit long-term healthcare support that have the potential to reduce costs and improve the quality of healthcare for patients with complex needs (Bartels et al., 2017). Moreover, Castro, Van Regenmortel, Vanhaecht, Sermeus, and Van Hecke (2016) advocated that collective patient participation could shape patient-centered strategies through education, training, and policy development in support of quality healthcare. Developing such strategies may promote social change by increasing patient engagement and strengthening the ability of medical providers to connect with patients (Franzen, 2017).

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The goal of this multiple case study was to explore patient-centered strategies from the perspective of six midlevel healthcare managers who work at a full-service acute care facility that services patients from rural communities in Virginia. In this literature review, I explored strategies that midlevel healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. A thorough expositive literature review involves identifying, synthesizing, and encapsulating studies inside an extensive body of research on a specific topic (Paré, Trudel, Jaana, & Kitsiou, 2015). By exploring literature covering PCC, cost improvements, healthcare policies, PCC strategies, patient satisfaction, and other resources, useful strategies may emerge that hospital managers can implement to reduce the cost of patient healthcare without a reduction in a patient's quality of care.

The resources used for this literature review were from the Walden University

Library research databases including (a) ProQuest Central, (b) Academic Search, (c)

American College of Healthcare Executives, (d) Google Scholar, (e) EBSCOhost, (f)

Science Direct (g) Emerald Management Journals, Management, and (h) government websites. The totals for sources referred to in this study by category were as follows: (a) six books, (b) 254 journal articles, and (c) seven reports. Of the 267 resources, 235 (88%) had publication dates less than 5 years old.

Table 1

Details of Literature Review by Year of Publication

	Older than 5 years	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total	
Books		2	2	1	1		6	
Reports		3	1		3		7	
Peer-reviewed	2	25	109	73	37	8	254	
Totals	2	30	112	74	41	8	267	

The body of knowledge on patient-centered healthcare and cost containment strategies is constantly transforming to meet the needs of patients, healthcare leaders, providers, healthcare organizations, insurers, and local and federal government agencies. The literature presented in this study contains current strategies managers are employing within a patient care delivery structure. Effective healthcare managers are leading healthcare organizations with the goal of improving the patient experience through proven strategies that improve safety, efficiencies, and cost (Mohammed et al., 2016). PCC strategies are essential for linking every aspect of a healthcare organization with the objectives and goals of the organization's leadership (Anderson, 2015).

I organized this literature review into the following 10 main subject categories: (a) patient centered-care, (b) primary care team model, (c) assessing PCC, (d) PCC as a measurement within healthcare, (e) PCC within the ACA, (f) how PCC emerged to its

relevance in today's healthcare delivery, (g) PCC within a value-centered healthcare model, (h) value-based purchasing, (i) patient-centered medical home (PCMH), and (j) healthcare leadership and continuous quality improvement. In the first two subject categories, I explored the theory related to this study as well as the theorist, tenets of the theory, and evolution of the theory related to this study. Next, I explored several alternate theories considered but not selected and the reasons for not selecting those theories. The remaining categories expand on the topic of this study as they relate to PCC.

#### **Patient-Centered Care**

Zill et al. (2015) stated the IOM recognizes the term PCC as the vanguard of healthcare. PCC is a strategy demonstrated when healthcare professionals freely interact with the patient and the healthcare workers to effect a positive outcome for the patient (Zill et al., 2015). However, various definitions of PCC exist resulting in multiple interpretations of who or what should be the focus of a PCC strategy. Zill et al. (2015) argued that PCC is one of six improvements used to enhance the quality of care in healthcare systems. Additionally, PCC is a fundamental capability all healthcare professionals must have to provide healthcare in this century (Bernabeo & Holmboe, 2013). Healthcare leaders should apply PCC strategies that emphasize respect, care for the patient, value, a patient's opinions, a desire to relieve pain and suffering, care coordination, a focus on the population health, disease prevention, and a healthy lifestyle (Zill et al., 2015).

Likewise, Jun and Oh (2017) noted the patient's perspective of PCC is relevant when the focus is the patient and not the desires of the provider. As such, healthcare

providers should seek to provide patients with a personal and customizable experience (Locatelli, Turcios, & LaVela, 2015). Healthcare organizations that employed PCC benefited from improved disease management, higher patient satisfaction and engagement, reduced anxiety among patients, and an overall increase in patient perceived quality of life (Jun & Oh, 2017). Among the elderly, implementing PCC is improving the delivery of preventive care for patients suffering from chronic conditions (Liang et al., 2017).

Krupic, Sayed-Noor, and Fatahi (2017) further sought to link PCC with a theory based on caring that one J. Watson established in 1988 that addresses the basic tenets applied in the field of nursing science. Millenson, Shapiro, Greenhouse, and DiGioia (2016) stated the term *patient-centered care* emerged from the concept of patient-centeredness mentioned in a Gerteis et al. (1987) article *Through the Patient's Eyes* that presented information gathered during the Picker/Commonwealth Program in 1987.

Carl Rogers, a noted psychologist and founder of psychotherapy, established the term *patient-centeredness* in the 1940s (as cited in Lor, Croks, & Tluczek, 2016). Rogers argued that every individual had inherent qualities that one could draw from to alleviate challenges. In the 1960s, British psychoanalyst E. Balint created the term patient-centered medicine (as cited in Tanenbaum, 2015). Balint's term focused on one aspect of the patient-care team, for example, the physician, which limited the value of the other care providers.

In 1987, the Picker/Commonwealth Patient-Centered Care Program developed the term patient-centered care. The Picker/Commonwealth Foundation was developed

through a partnership between Dr. Harvey Picker, his wife, Jean Picker, and the Commonwealth Foundation, an independent, nonprofit, private, public policy organization located in Pennsylvania (Rawson & Moretz, 2016). Their motivation to explore patient care resulted from a lack of responsiveness they deemed lacking when a patient received treatment for a life-threating medical condition in the 1980s (Byczkowski et al., 2015). The partnership specifically sought to bring attention to realigning the healthcare provider's focus on medical care from the disease back to the patient for improving the delivery of healthcare. Through the Picker's philanthropic donation, the Commonwealth Foundation directed their efforts to change the focus of healthcare industry delivery of care toward the patient with an increased appreciation for the importance of the patient's participation in their care (Byczkowski et al., 2015).

As time progressed, the developers of the Picker/Commonwealth Program focused patient delivery on the following: (a) valuing and respecting the patient preference and verbalized needs; (b) coordinating and integrating care for the patient; (c) sharing information, education, and open communication among providers, the patient and the family; (d) the patient's well-being; (e) supporting the patient and family's emotional and psychological well-being; (f) including the family and friends into the patient's care plan; and (g) transitioning and continuing aftercare until released (Byczkowski et al., 2015).

In 2001, the IOM presented six improvements in their report entitled "Crossing the Quality Chasm" examining the quality of healthcare in the United States and strategies to improve PCC as aims for improvement (Berwick, Feeley, & Loehrer, 2015).

As the concept of PCC evolves, the medical community continues to reshape the implementation of PCC to achieve improvements in patient care delivery based on current practice procedures. Moreover, various forms of PCC emerged substituting one word for the other with the focus remaining on the patient as specified in the IOM report. Some of these terms were *client-centered care*, *person-centered care*, and *family- and PCC* that ultimately mean the same thing and were often used interchangeably depending who performed the research (Price & Elliott, 2018).

The Europeans use the term *person-based* with the goal to put a name to the patient and not a number like many hospitals in the United States (Yardley, Morrison, Bradbury, & Muller, 2015). Overall, implementing person-centered care versus a physician-centric care delivery is producing increased positive outcomes for caregivers (Flieger, 2017). The focus of person-centered care is supporting what is most important to the patient and focusing all of the patient's treatment team strategies toward those goals (Yardley et al., 2015).

As PCC transforms the interaction among the patient, caregiver, and the family, PCC evolved to include other providers beyond the healthcare personnel who provide direct care. Locatelli, Turcios et al. (2015) stated the patient's team includes patient advocates, technological providers, communication supports, and various health administration personnel. The expansion of the patient's care team has improved the delivery of care by enhancing awareness and responsiveness for the patient (Santana et al., 2017). The healthcare community defines PCC as healthcare derived from a partnership among the caregivers, patient, and their families that safeguards the patient's

needs, desires, and preferences ensuring the patient's values guide all clinical decisions (Winn, Ozanne, & Sepucha, 2015).

#### **Assessing Patient-Centered Care**

While the healthcare community in the United States and globally focus on providing PCC, researchers and those responsible for managing healthcare organizations are assessing the quality of patients' decisions to improve treatment planning, execution, and the delivery of PCC. Kogan, Wilber, and Mosqueda (2016) stated physicians who practice PCC could improve their patients' results and their approval ratings. Researchers determined that patients desire to be a part of their decisions regarding healthcare and their treatment options (Bernabeo & Holmboe, 2013). Hence, caregivers who facilitate patient participation in their care are reducing the use of extraneous diagnostic testing, treatment, inpatient care, and referrals for specialty care (Schneider, Hill, & Blandford, 2016). Bernabeo and Holmboe (2013) called the process of involving patients in their treatment based on their values, beliefs, preferences, and knowledge as shared decision making. Likewise, Locatelli, Hill et al. (2015) described effective PCC as a process that involves the patient rather than the physician making decisions independent of the recipient receiving the healthcare. Bernabeo and Holmboe (2013) stated healthcare policies should reflect the concept of shared decision making among providers and patients to improve the delivery of PCC.

Winn et al. (2015) stated caregivers and healthcare managers want to know how well the patient's care-team is informing their patients based on previous treatment received. Moreover, researchers seek the patient's support to determine if clinicians are

providing the best medical options and outcomes to treat the patient (Winn et al., 2015). Batalden et al. (2016) stressed that healthcare managers must ensure their healthcare teams are communicating with patients, mutually developing treatment plans, and thoroughly adhering to the treatment plans discussed with the patient and family to implement PCC effectively.

Another measure researchers and healthcare managers are using to measure PCC is the patient's experience (Tzelepis, Sanson-Fisher, Zucca, & Fradgley, 2015). In addition, researchers are assessing the *value concordance* or agreement to assess the effectiveness of quality decisions in support of PCC (Winn et al., 2015). Winn et al. (2015) defined value concordance as the relationship between the patients' preferences regarding medical treatment and treatment goals. Within PCC, the patient's choice and outcomes should correlate; however, when the patient's outcome differs from the expected, the patient may question the value of the treatment. Likewise, the associated cost of delivering the patient's care may exceed the standard cost, hence subjecting the patient's care for questioning (Winn et al., 2015).

#### **Alternative Approaches**

Primary care team. The primary care team model, also referred to as the practice team, direct primary care team, and interprofessional collaborative practice model (Selleck et al., 2017) was an alternate approach for this study. Körner et al. (2016) stated a primary care team is a collaborative practice intervention consisting of various members of interdisciplinary teams that include physicians, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, registered nurses, and health assistants. The primary care team primary

function is to meet the healthcare needs of the patient (Doekhie, Buljac-Samardzic, Strating, & Paauwe, 2017). The primary care team model often includes monitoring and collaboration among various paraprofessionals, for example, a nurse, health assistants, and other medical professionals in support of the patient delivery of care (Coleman et al., 2017). The overall goal of a primary care team is to improve the delivery of care for patients (Freund et al., 2015). However, the primary care team model does not emphasize the patient or family as a member of the team. Schottenfeld et al. (2017) stated medical facility leaders and primary care teams will need to make profound changes in the following: (a) the culture and organization of care, (b) the environment in which medical personnel interact with patients, (c) education and training, and (d) the means by which primary care personnel and patients understand their roles and responsibilities.

Physician-centered care. Similarly, physician-centered care involves a standard of care focus around the direction, goals, and efficiency of the physician (Yurkiewicz, 2016). Lim and Kurniasanti (2015) defined physician-centered care as the evaluation and treatment of diseases, which emphasized the clinical expertise of a physician. According to Flieger (2017), physician-centered care delivery impeded effective team-based PCC. Orom et al. (2018) argued that a trusting closed physician-centered relationship could adversely reduce a patient's willingness to participate and discuss their provider's treatment decision-making. Moreover, Islam et al. (2017) stated the introduction of the PCMH model and other PCC models would necessitate physicians and other healthcare professionals to work collaboratively to coordinate PCC. Orom et al. (2018) stated patients that actively participate in their treatment decision within a PCC model,

statistically better adhere to their treatment plan than patients who participate in a physician-centered patient relationship. Lim and Kurniasanti (2015) indicated that shared decision-making is a critical process of PCC whereby the patient and clinician participate jointly in making health decisions for treatment. However, Pollard, Bansback, and Bryan (2015) stated the shift towards a patient-centered approach by physicians has been slower, because of clinician's limited willingness to exercise shared decision making with their patients. Additionally, the traditional decision-making approach facilitated by the proponents of the physician-centered model is a sharp contrast to the PCC model (Lim & Kurniasanti, 2015). Moreover, the physician-centeredness model directly contradicts to PCC. Therefore, I did not choose this model for use in this study.

#### **Patient-Centered Care as a Measurement Within Healthcare**

It is a challenge for healthcare leaders to reduce cost by servicing more patients with fewer providers. Moreover, the maximum time a medical practitioner can provide medical care ranges between 15 and 18 minutes (Bard et al., 2016). This time model used in many medical facilities enables medical practitioners to serve as many patients as possible with the most cost-effective treatment based on the patient's medical benefit (Tai-Seale et al., 2017). As such, PCC has emerged as a significant measurement for internal organization leaders to assess standards and external evaluating organization leaders, for example, the Joint Commission to measure one facility against other like healthcare organizations.

The Joint Commission, established in 1951, is a nonprofit organization that accredits and certifies healthcare organizations with the principal aim of improving the

quality of care provided to patients (Hirose, 2016). One aim of the Joint Commission is to evaluate how acute care facilities integrate patient-centered communications along with PCC into the organization strategic plan to improve the quality of patient care (Happ et al., 2015). Hence, as of 2011, the U.S. Health and Human Services (HHS) directed healthcare organizations to focus their strategies on improving the quality of healthcare by making it more patient-centered (Burwell, 2015). However, implementing PCC is not a one-size fit all concept. Based on various PCC models and strategies used by healthcare organizations, a certain amount of uncertainty occurs when managers levy PCC with diverse populations (Hawley & Morris, 2017). Consequently, the Joint Commission in their assessment expects managers of healthcare organizations to establish standards that advance communication, culture, and competence for PCC (Bucknall et al., 2016). A measure, highlighted in the (ACA) in 2010, was to strengthen cultural competency, ethnicity, and language among providers to meet the demands of a diverse population (Abdus, Mistry, & Selden, 2015).

Healthcare leaders are leveraging feedback obtained from patients through inservice surveys to meet the demands of patients and standards measured by the Joint Commission, ACA, and stockholders. Manary et al. (2015) stated the healthcare community through mandates established by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) developed a Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) survey to address measures to improve the quality of patient care. The overall goal of this

survey was to improve the quality of care for patients by providing useful data to the consumer and healthcare facility leadership could use to improve PCC.

Etkind et al. (2015) stated that many healthcare organizations are utilizing patient-centered outcome measures (PCOMs) to improve PCC. PCOMs is a term focused on measuring patient and proxy-reported outcome measures derived from internal surveys to improve the delivery of PCC. Healthcare leaders of various organizations are using surveys to connect their organization's accomplishments with their values to improve the patient's experience (Manary et al., 2015). As such, Bishop and Macdonald (2017) expressed that surveyed patients often highlighted the personal professionalism of the ancillary staff, the facility maintenance, and feeling of safety are measures as important. Acknowledging patient concerns through surveys is helping to improve the patient experience and PCC (Etkind et al., 2015).

Healthcare leaders who value increasing their patients' knowledge, leveraging innovations in healthcare, mitigating cost, and reducing their competition to improve a healthcare facility position among other facilities will improve their ability to retain patients (Manary et al., 2015). Millar, Freeman, and Mannion (2015) stated researchers have ascertained that safety and trust are quantifiable measures healthcare leaders should emphasize to reduce patient attrition, improve customer value, and anticipate customer responses to various situations. These measures can improve PCC for a facility. Etkind et al. (2015) stated research has shown that many healthcare facilities are not able to correlate the outcomes measured into increased value for patients.

Overall, long-term care Medicare-dependent patients have seen the greatest improved value from measures gathered through surveys (Etkind et al., 2015). Chang et al. (2013) emphasized the challenges healthcare managers endure to sustain PCC by underscoring an increased reliance on interpersonal care and feedback from the patient or their family. Furthermore, if family members are true participants in the patients' care, medical providers must provide sufficient information to ease their anxiety so they can make knowledgeable decisions as advocates for their relatives (Mitchell et al., 2016). Moreover, the HCAHPS provides healthcare facilities a standard survey to assess the general needs of most full-service acute care facilities; however, many healthcare administrators will require specific surveys to target special populations needs for specialties, for example, pediatrics, geriatric, hospice, cardiology, and oncology patients (Ranard et al., 2016). Overall, healthcare managers are using surveys as a principal tool to improve the delivery of PCC.

#### **Patient-Centered Care Within the Affordable Care Act**

President Barack H. Obama signed the PPACA on March 23, 2010. President Obama designed the PPACA or other appellations, for instance, Obamacare and ACA, to increase access to patient healthcare and reduce an individual's out-of-pocket expense (Cunningham, 2015). Two benefits of PPACA for Americans are a reduction in preexisting condition exclusions and the elimination of lifetime limits on insurance coverage (Cheng, 2016).

Cunningham (2015) stated the PPACA requires all Americans to have access to affordable healthcare at rates based on one's income regardless of an individual's health

status. Other benefits of PPACA for Americans are statutes that restrict health insurers from discriminating the sale of insurance basis on a person's health status and granting tax credits to both individuals and families (Ogundipe et al., 2016). According to Blumenthal, Abrams, and Nuzum (2015), 30 million of the 31 million Americans projected by the writers of the PPACA gained health insurance and 10.8 million additional Americans have enrolled in Medicaid since the enactment of the PPACA. As of 2016, the uninsured rate for Americans has declined by 43%, from 16.0% in 2010 to 9.1% in 2015 (Obama, 2016). Historically, President Obama was not the first President to argue for a comprehensive healthcare plan that all Americans could access. In 1912, President Theodore Roosevelt unsuccessfully attempted to campaign for a united healthcare plan (Doherty, 2017). Roosevelt began his initiative based on a campaign promise to provide healthcare for all industry workers who were experiencing an increase in chronic health issues during the Second Industrial Revolution (Manchikanti, Helm, Benyamin, & Hirsch, 2017).

Consequently, Franklin D. Roosevelt (FDR), the 32nd President of the United States, spearheaded several legislative efforts to include a national healthcare reform to meet the needs of Americans after the Great Depression (Gaffney, 2015). FDR sought to enact a national health insurance mandate; however, the political climate after the depression would not support a standalone healthcare insurance mandate (Doherty, 2017). Instead, FDR was able to establish the Social Security Act, which he signed into law in 1935. FDR continued to push for a healthcare provision. Through his Surgeon General, Thomas Parran, FDR sought to have national health insurance support Social

Security beneficiaries as a means to assist some portion of Americans (Kim, 2017). FDR was unable to establish a universal healthcare insurance program before his death in 1945. President Truman, FDR's successor, took up the pledge to establish a universal healthcare reform. Like FDR, Truman attempted to establish a national healthcare program but failed based on a heavy Republican Congress that did not support the idea (Manchikanti et al., 2017). After Truman, Lyndon Johnson, the 36th President, took up the task to establish a national healthcare program. Under Johnson's administration, he signed the Medicare and Medicaid Bill in 1965 (Doherty, 2017). Johnson's signing was the greatest achievement toward the concept of a national health program since the idea emerged during Theodore Roosevelt's presidency in 1912 (Doherty, 2017). President Johnson established Medicare to support Americans 65 years and older (Manchikanti et al., 2017). However, as culture evolves, the Medicare program signed into law by President Johnson is not the same program Americans are using as of 2015 (Blumenthal, Davis, & Guterman, 2015).

In 1966, 19 million Americans benefited from the passing of Medicare (Falconi, 2015). As of 2015, 53 million Americans benefit from Medicare (Blumenthal, Davis, & Guterman, 2015). In 1972, Medicare expanded to include individuals younger than 65 with long-term disabilities and patients diagnosed with end-stage renal disease (Altman & Frist, 2015). This expansion of Medicare was another step toward providing healthcare to a segment of the American population that otherwise could not afford healthcare (Blumenthal, Abrams, & Nuzum, 2015).

In 1977, during the Carter administration, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare established the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) to administer both the Medicare and Medicaid programs (Altman & Frist, 2015). Between the 1980s through 2003, Medicare and Medicaid added measures to assist Americans and others. In 1988, Congress required all states to use Medicaid funds to pay Medicare premiums and cost sharing for qualified Medicare beneficiaries (QMBs) with incomes below 100% of the federal poverty level (FPL) (Altman & Frist, 2015). Later in 2003, President George W. Bush signed the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act, which provided new outpatient prescription drug benefits beginning in 2006 (Viswanathan et al., 2015). The PPACA has the greatest impact and quantifiable effect on U.S. citizens access to health insurance since the establishment of the Medicare and Medicaid Act of 1965 (Blumenthal, Davis, & Guterman, 2015; Shaw, Asomugha, Conway, & Rein, 2014).

The ACA is an act created through ad hoc legislation (Gaffney & McCormick, 2017). An ad hoc legislature differs from a traditional legislature model by the process Congress will use to get the law they desire approved. A traditional legislature will focus on implementing one law or act (Bishop, 2014). The ACA is two bills, the PPACA and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (HCERA) passed almost immediately after the PPACA to amend that legislation (Bishop, 2014).

Upon President Obama's reelection in 2012, Congress composition changed from a Democratic majority to a Republican-controlled Congress. This change of power lead to a push by a Republican-led Congress in 2012 and beyond, as well as the principal

promise of Donald Trump, the 45th President of the United States, to dismantle the ACA as written (Ogundipe et al., 2015). Bishop (2014) stated the ACA is the first time the U.S. has preserved access for all Americans the basic right to healthcare that encompasses improved delivery of care as well as a federal government overhaul of healthcare insurances. The ACA focused more on the cost of insurance as opposed to the cost of healthcare (Obama, 2016). Ericson and Kessler (2016) stated the debate, for example health insurance mandates or tax, regarding the ACA pertain to the manner the government discourages or encourages Americans with private, individual (nongroup) insurance whose health plans may terminate due to higher premiums, coverage for fewer services, and or denial of benefits to people with pre-existing medical conditions impacts compliance among Americans.

Since the ACA became law in 2010, the uninsured rate has declined by 43% (Obama, 2016). According to Blumenthal, Abrams, and Nuzum (2015), the number of uninsured Americans declined from 49 million in 2010 to 30 million in 2015.

The remaining uninsured will have several options that follow:

- Pay a tax penalty 1% of their income in 2014 that will increase to 2.5% in
   2016 if they do not obtain acceptable coverage
- Enroll in Medicaid or seek out an employer plan, if one qualifies
- Obtain subsidized private insurance on the exchange if they meet income requirements between 133% and 400% of the poverty line as determine by the U.S. Census Bureau

 One can purchase insurance on their own that will most likely incur a greater cost based on the inability to qualify for an exemption (Gaffney & McCormick, 2017).

Elderly Americans, who are a minimum of 65 years old, can use Medicare and Medicaid to cover their healthcare expenses. Provisions embedded in the law set forth measures to improve PCC as stipulated by the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (Frank et al., 2015). To ensure patients had a voice in their delivery of care, the authors of the ACA created the PCORI to examine measures for improving health and healthcare management by patients and providers by analyzing the quantifiable efficiency of current health treatments (Bishop, 2014). In 2014, the Supreme Court sustained the constitutionality of the individual mandate of the PPACA, thereby ensuring the Act remained intact as endorsed by President Obama as well as the goal of cost containment and improved patient access (Ogundipe et al., 2015).

In particular, Title V of the PPACA outlines the strategy to expand access to care to low-income, underserved, and uninsured, minority, health disparity, and rural Americans (Islam et al., 2015). In Medicaid program expansion states, the proportion of Medicaid enrollees reporting poor access to care declined from 8.5% before the expansion to 7.3% after the expansion that resulted in a 1.2% change with 5.3% of patients reporting no change in access (Ndumele et al., 2014).

# How Patient-Centered Care Emerged to its Relevance in Today Healthcare Delivery

The terminology of PCC has evolved globally from healthcare policies identified from the World Health Organization, the National Health Service, U.S. HHS, and the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (Santana et al., 2017). Healthcare managers, physicians, nurses, and other medical professionals embrace PCC as a principle function for ascertaining a patient's goals and use these goals to develop a patient's treatment plan (Tinetti, 2016). Bowen et al. (2017) advocated that a patientcentered performance management system would provide a valuable platform for all those involved with providing PCC by ensuring management incorporates the patient preferences, as well as hold medical service providers accountable for a patient-centered performance measurement model. Consequently, Pluut (2016) stated healthcare providers are employing various models and methods of PCC to meet various patients' needs. Santana et al. (2017) surmised from various data sources that three principal themes of PCC are (a) the patient participation and involvement, (b) the relationship between the patient and the healthcare professional, and (c) the environment where the patients receive care.

The delivery of PCC remains a challenge based on language, socioeconomic status, education, and cultural incompatibilities among patients (Moore et al., 2016). To deliver PCC, Blaum et al. (2017) acknowledged three universal phases as follows:

 Ensure the family member or legal guardian and patient comprehend the patient's diagnostic health status.

- 2. The process of establishing and prearranging the goals of the patients with the medical providers to plan the patients required a length of care.
- 3. The third phase requires the patient and provider to commit to an established plan of care based on the goals established through dialogue with patient and caregiver. A challenge many healthcare professionals encounter is converting a patient's goals into a methodology to determine the appropriate intervention.

Bowen et al. (2017) suggested using the patient-centered performance management system to document recommendations for medical professionals and the patient with the likelihood the recommendations received would benefit the patient or provide indicators that a chosen goal could cause harm. Tanenbaum (2015) stated the goal of PCC is to avoid utilizing a one-size-fits-all PCC model. By implementing the latter strategy, healthcare professionals can establish a PCC plan that adjusts for various cultural and regional dynamics. Similarly, Blaum et al. (2017) recommended caregivers receive additional education to prepare them to care adequately for the elderly and those with advanced-care illnesses.

# Patient-Centered Care within a Value-Centered Healthcare Model

In 2007, the Institute for Healthcare Improvements (IHI) developed the *Triple Aims* framework cited and used by healthcare organizations throughout the world (Storkholm, Mazzocato, Savage, & Savage, 2017). Two benefit healthcare administrators and providers have gained by implementing the Triple Aim are a focus on the patient and an increased delivery of suitable care (Conrad & Alfredson, 2016). The three aims attempt to (a) improve the patient care experience, (b) improve the health of a population,

and (c) reduce per capita healthcare costs. These became the cornerstone of the ACA (Storkholm et al., 2017).

Porter and Kaplan (2016) identified value as the core function patients require and providers and stakeholders must accomplish to improve outcomes. Additionally, a function is to reduce the cost to organize healthcare around a patient-centered system. Likewise, Subramaniam et al. (2017) identified the Joint Commission, a non-profit organization responsible for accrediting over 21,000 healthcare organizations, as encouraging healthcare leaders to create a culture that promotes safety and value patient-centered communication. When the ACA became law in 2010, CMS executed several programs to transition from a volume-based reimbursement to a value-based care model (Bosko & Gulotta, 2016). Porter and Kaplan (2016) specified that value within a healthcare delivery model is health outcomes that resonate with patients alongside the expected cost required to achieve predictable outcomes.

At the national and state levels, healthcare and governmental leaders identified the lack of value gained through physician's fee-for-service plans that limit patient and healthcare organizations' ability to examine insurers; however, under managed care, insurance companies could negotiate cost-effective contracts subject to review and monitoring (Baicker & Robbins, 2015). Porter and Kaplan (2016) stated improving value requires improving outcomes without raising costs, lowering costs without compromising outcomes, or both. Price and Elliott (2018) determined that a lack of patient involvement could create confusion among the patient, caregivers, and healthcare providers resulting in the patient perceiving a lessening of value care. Elwyn et al. (2014) advocated that

healthcare providers have determined that PCC improves their patients' outcomes, as well as improve self-management, patient approval ratings, and improved medical outcomes. When addressing elderly patients, particularly Medicare recipients, the medical treatment team should work to ascertain what the patient values and prefers when designing a treatment plan that supports results and outcomes the patient and caregivers desire (Cox, White, & Abernethy, 2014).

Shared decision making, a method used by healthcare teams to gather information that informs the patient of their treatment options and strategies while addressing the patient's preferences, assists in developing the patient treatment plan (Elwyn et al., 2014). Medical personnel who utilize decision aids in support of decision making have seen increasing support by patients and caregivers when developing treatment teams for those with complex illnesses often seen in elderly patients (Cox, White, & Abernethy, 2014). Elwyn et al. (2014) concluded that shared decision making in support of PCC is most effective when clinical teams can adapt based on the patient's situation, needs, and projected outcomes. Notwithstanding, healthcare managers should be aware of the limits any decision support system may have and develop strategies that help to mitigate issues in providing the level of care expected from the patient and caregiver (Cox et al., 2014).

Porter and Lee (2016) proposed a value-based delivery model where healthcare facilities organize care around the patient needs versus a model focus on enhancing the financial performance of primary care practices under fee-for-service payments. Bosko and Gulotta (2016) attested the need for organizations to convert to a value-based plan for sustainability. A value-based plan would require a methodical change in the approach to

care across the healthcare continuum. For healthcare to improve, Bosko and Gulotta (2016) stated the healthcare industry should utilize risk stratification models to manage the population and identify high-risk patients. Risk stratification models enable medical facilities managers to organize workflow and group patients based on needs.

Porter and Kaplan (2016) recommended analyzing primary healthcare as a multitude of several patient subgroups that enable managers to measure outcomes and cost, other payment models and strategies that support primary and specialty care solutions. Healthcare managers and insurers are using big data, for example, large volume of detailed electronic information accessible for the purpose of analyzing patient's medical history, inconsistency in healthcare quality, treatment strategies, hospital readmission rates, and opportunities to reduce patient cost and manage overtaxed medical resources for the purpose of improving value and efficiencies (Manogaran et al., 2017). Subsequently, Rollow and Cucchiara (2016) indicated the establishment of PCMH is a significant model for improving value, team-based care, outcomes, and costs containment.

The ACA will cover an additional 30 million Americans by 2020 with health insurance who without the ACA would remain uninsured (Rice et al., 2014).

Notwithstanding, a core achievement of the ACA has been the requirement for all Americans to have health insurance at rates based on the population averages regardless of one's health status (Obama, 2016). Sommers, Maylone, Blendon, Orav, and Epstein (2017) stated one of the aims of the ACA was to provide healthcare coverage for low income citizens. One group of high-risk citizens is the elderly. Chandra et al. (2015)

stated the following factors identify the elderly as a risk factor: sociodemographic, environmental trends with outpatient care, repeated adverse drug incidences, and the number of elderly patients using multiple prescriptions. In short, Rice et al. (2014) indicated increased accessibility and affordability to health insurance regardless of a person's station would move the U.S. much closer to the concept of universal healthcare.

# **Value-Based Purchasing**

The healthcare industry could not sustain the rate of increases in Medicare patients incurred in the late 2000s. CMS established the Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) program as a means to add value to healthcare services. Within the ACA, a statute is a means to reduce cost. All funds for inpatient health services will correlate with value and measures per (42 U.S.C. § 18001 (2010). The number of readmissions and catastrophic events increased among Medicare-dependent patients costing over \$30 billion in 2009, reflecting poorly on the U.S. even though many non-U.S. citizens hailed the U.S. healthcare system as the best in the world (Raso, 2015). Lipshy (2017) described a setting that includes adverse events, for example, operations performed with foreign objects left inside of patients due to poor safety and maintenance standards. However, Kronick (2016) indicated the U.S. healthcare system saved \$12 billion in Medicare and Medicaid costs from 2010 to 2013 based on collaborations between U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) agencies and other partners to achieve the goals of improving care, greater efficiency of healthcare dollars, and healthier people.

In 2014, value-based payments emerged as requirements based on provisions established by President Obama when he signed PPACA and the HCERA together

known as the ACA (Burwell, 2015). Raso (2015) stated VBP funds would come from reduced hospital Medicare payments. Stein et al. (2015) recognized that VBP provides hospitals with financial incentives based on a critical factor that the patient experience is a key component of quality care.

Moreover, CMS would redistribute revenue as withheld-funds derived from Medicare payments back to hospitals based on quality performance data based on its prior year's performance (Raso, 2015). Based on the success of the VBP, former HHS Secretary Burwell announced that VBP would tie Medicare fees for service to value by 2018 (Lynn, McKethan, & Jha, 2015). Additionally, the CMS moved to expand VBP in 2015 by rewarding or penalizing hospitals with financial incentives based on their quality of care delivery and spending (Das et al., 2016).

Bosko and Koenig (2016) stated CMS established programs that incentivized hospitals for providing quality facility care and penalized those facilities that failed to provide quality care as facilities transitioned to a value-based payment system. Bundled arrangements are a focus for CMS. CMS is moving coverage of over 55 million Medicare beneficiaries and 72 million Medicaid enrollees (Pizzo & Ryan, 2016). In 2014, Section 3001(a) of Public Law 111-148 outlined the inpatient value-based purchasing program that referenced the criteria for value-based payments based on a hospital meeting performance standard for the performance period of that year.

The overall success rating of a hospital correlates directly with that hospital's payfor-performance (P4P) strategy that supports the outcomes for increased efficiencies and positive levels of patient experiences (Stanowski, Simpson, & White, 2015). Bosko and Koenig (2016) defined a value-based program as a payment redistribution program for qualified hospitals that subsidize a set percentage of the base operating payments to a VBP payment group; the percentage for 2017 is 2.0%. Overall, VBP rewards hospitals based on their performance. Furthermore, physicians must adhere to payments derived from servicing Medicare and Medicaid-dependent patients based on value versus volume (Ryan & Rodgers, 2018). The ACA identifies the payment as a value modifier that ties a physician's quality of care and those costs associated with Medicare Part B payments (Bosko & Hawkins, 2016). Along with the payment plans listed within Medicare Part B, physicians can take part in alternate reimbursement methods that include the PCMH model and other approved payment methods (Bosko & Hawkins, 2016).

In addition to the VBP, two other programs make up the CMS programs, the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP) and the Hospital-Acquired Conditions (HAC) program. The HRRP and HAC are penalty programs designed for hospitals that fail to transition to value-based reimbursement, hospitals with unnecessary, avoidable readmissions, and hospitals whose performance is in the bottom quartile for all hospitals (Bosko & Koenig, 2016). The CMS established bundled payments to motivate providers to coordinate care, increase quality, and reduce cost based on a single payment for a specified treatment over a definite period (Pizzo & Ryan, 2016).

Organizations striving to improve healthcare should align the quality components of the CMS programs, which include the quality of payment, reimbursement structural change, and provider's compensation. Organizations must evolve to incentivize behavioral change and promote adherence to quality and service metrics (Pizzo & Ryan,

2016). As such, many healthcare organizations leaders have taken steps to improve their delivery of care based on constraints outlined in the ACA and demands from local, state, and federal agencies, as well as insurance companies to provide sustainable quality healthcare at a lower cost (Douthit, Kiv, Dwolatzky, & Biswas, 2015). In contrast, hospitals located in regions where patients'incomes are higher and charitable contributions to hospital are the norm have seen a steady increase in favorable patient surveys. However, those patient's surveyed with limited income and longer travel distance to healthcare facilities have experienced difficulties accessing quality healthcare (Stanowski, Simpson, & White, 2015).

The challenge in providing PCC to those disproportioned Americans entering the healthcare market is that it is slow to see the gains established through the ACA as highlighted through patient-reported experience surveys (Schlesinger, Grob, & Shaller, 2015). Healthcare managers of medical facilities will need to develop strategies and processes to lower costs without diminishing safety and quality so that medical staffs can accomplish quality healthcare while making a profit (Porter & Kaplan, 2016). Stanowski et al. (2015) identified that hospitals could gain benefit by linking the patient experience to financial incentives that coincide with increased safety, outcome care, and patient satisfaction surveys. Similarly, Bowen et al. (2017) discussed that using the electronic health record (EHR) system; (an existing digital system used by health facilities to document a patient's medical history) can improve a patient's safety and minimize risk from unnecessary medical treatment. Mohammed et al. (2016) suggested healthcare teams that utilize patient experience data gathered from patient satisfaction surveys could

improve the patient experience and the delivery of health services to increase a patient's outcome.

The task of lowering cost, maintaining safety, and meeting stockholder goals increases the challenge of making PCC a priority. As a larger portion of lower income and vulnerable Americans receive their healthcare from Safe-Net hospitals (SNH) often located in disenfranchised and rural communities, the complexities of managing a hospital increase (Andrulis, Siddiqui, Reddy, Jahnke, & Cooper, 2015). French, Guzman, Rubio, Frenzel, and Feeley (2016) stated time-driven activity-based costing (TDABC) is a tool many hospitals are beginning to use to help healthcare providers and managers improve processes within their organizations. Bhavnani et al. (2017) advocated the need for the healthcare industry to develop new patient-centered, evidence-driven models that support healthcare transformation and cost reductions. Bhavnani posited that healthcare providers and managers could accomplish the shift in focus from serial treatment to sustainable health outcomes based on ACA standards. Notwithstanding, Safe-Net hospitals have a higher chance of failing without some institutional process improvement measures implemented in support of healthcare transformation (Andrulis et al., 2015).

Bhavnani et al. (2017) emphasized that healthcare facilities should implement alternate means to communicate that include telehealth, virtual health, email, phone, and text to limit a patient's time in a healthcare facility that in turn increases cost and impact patient surveys, a principal indicator in VBP. Lipshy (2017) indicated that healthcare organizational leadership should commit to zero defect concerning the patient's safety and employ tools that support gained efficiencies to meet sustainable healthcare delivery.

Lipshy (2017) indicated that an organization's leadership requires resilience, such as the competence to recognize errors efficiently and elicit strategies that deter and isolate them, thereby averting any damage that may result if not mitigated. HHS is the U.S. agency charged to improve and safeguard the health and well-being of all Americans. The agency focuses are (a) to provide incentives to providers and healthcare facilities, (b) to increase standards of care for Americans through improved integration of teamwork between providers and patients, and (c) to place emphases on improving communication both digital and through others forms of media between providers and patients (Burwell, 2015). According to Mamlin and Tierney (2016), other forms of communications, for example, telemedicine and telehealth support the universal goal of expanding access to healthcare to millions of additional Americans while reducing the cost to meet PCC initiatives expected from CMS and HHS.

## **The Patient-Centered Medical Home**

The PCMH is the single best strategic model to improve healthcare quality, reduce cost, and most importantly improve the patient's, caregiver's, and treatment team's experience. Evidence supports PCMH as a tremendous model for delivering primary care within patient-centered modality (Heisler, 2017). The PCMH concept originated in 1967 when the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) crafted the term *medical home* to define the role of the pediatric practice for chronically ill homebound children (Lerner & Klitzner, 2017). Moreover, PCMH population base consisted of children and adolescents characterized as children with special health needs (Adepoju, Preston, & Gonzales, 2015). This earlier model focused on coordinating care among

specialists, thereby omitting the patient's primary care physician. The next significant advancement to PCMH occurred between 1978 and 1990. During the World Health Organization's International Conference on Primary Health Care in 1978, the terms access to care, continuity of care, comprehensiveness and integration of care, patient education and participation, team-based care emerged along with accompanying public policy in support of primary care goals (Bath & Wakerman, 2015). In 1990, reports emerged that mention the terminology medical home.

Based on Ed Wagner's chronic care model developed in the 1990s, the IOM medical home concepts, and joint principles developed by several medical professional organizations that included the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) and the American College of Physicians (ACP), establish the current criteria developed for PCMH (Johnson et al., 2015). As PCMH took root, professional journals and other literature, scholars, and practitioners began to incorporate lean processes to improve the PCMH model within various organizations (McGough, Kline, & Simpson, 2017). The earliest definition of PCMH as it related to care for adults emerged in 2007 when a study conducted by the AAFP focused on interventions and outcomes linked with several large initiatives known as medical homes (Lerner & Klitzner, 2017). In 2007 the AAP, AAFP, ACP, and the American Osteopathic Association collaborated to refine the medical home concept with patient-centeredness, in their Joint Principles of the patient-centered medical home (McHugh, Harvey, Hamil, & Scanlon, 2016).

To that end, the current model of PCMH emerged when it formalized in 2007.

Coleman, Wagner, Schaefer, and Reid (2016) stated the National Committee for Quality

Assurance (NCQA), a privately own organization, helped to propel the PCMH model through its recognition and accreditation for many healthcare initiatives and models used throughout the U.S. government. Over the next 3 years, PCMH would become a principal model within the ACA. Notwithstanding, interface within the ACA is the concept PCMHs as defined in Section 3502 of the ACA to advance healthcare advantages for populations, preventive health, persistent chronic illnesses as well as other healthcare needs (Nowinski Konchak, Moran, O'Brien, Kandula, & Ackermann, 2016). Miller et al. (2017) stated the United States' depleting economic resources and decreasing healthcare budgets provide the perfect setting for healthcare providers to implement the PCMH model as an innovative approach to improving healthcare quality while reducing costs.

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2017) defined the patient-care medical home model as the standard of primary care that delivers the central functions of primary healthcare. Nevertheless, the writers of the ACA include provisions that assist and endorse the PCMH model as a financial incentive for Medicaid programs to transition patients from an inpatient model to a home-based model that supports technology advancements, safety, outcomes, and cost reductions (Nielsen et al., 2016).

Based on the literature, the PCMH consists of five functions and attributes that include (a) comprehensive care, (b) patient-centered, (c) coordinated care, (d) accessible service, and (e) quality and safety. These five elements aim to place the patient in the center of their care and streamline the care across the continuum of healthcare (AHRQ, 2017). Van Hasselt et al. (2015) stated scientific data supports the claim that the PCMH

model is less resource intensive than traditional standards of medical delivery and positively improves disease management and effective preventative health.

Overall, the establishment of PCMHs involves (a) transforming physician-centric care processes by incorporating all members of a healthcare team, (b) placing the patient at the center of care to improve quality, and (c) increasing healthcare team's access to their patient. Since the enactment of the ACA, scholars generally support the following: (a) treating chronic illnesses, (b) promoting preventive care and mitigating acute care needs, (c) employing multidisciplinary healthcare teams, (d) coordinating care transitions, (e) developing strategies that leverage multiple communication and technological systems, (f) monitoring risk mitigation, safety, and clinical based treatment care, and (g) improving electronic health records management as strategies to institute PCMH (McGough et al., 2017). Current studies support PCMH as the best model to mitigate a patient's total cost, meet patient satisfaction, and improve hospitalization rates across multiple diverse populations (Nielsen et al., 2016). Bilello et al. (2018) supported evidence that the PCMH model is a capable model that underscores all levels of healthcare delivery while decreasing cost. PCMH has been the fastest growing model for managing patients with chronic health issues (Conrad & Alfredson, 2016). Overall, healthcare facility administrators that have implemented the PCMH model are seeing cost reductions based on a decrease of chronically ill patients utilizing emergency room services (David et al., 2015).

# Healthcare Leadership and Continuous Quality Improvement

Healthcare leaders today continue to struggle with the goal of delivering quality healthcare to all patients. The PCMH model helped close the gap for most Americans despite the deficiency of effective communication and coordination of PCC across the wide range of healthcare delivery systems (Cantiello, Kitsantas, Moncada, & Abdul, 2016). Moreover, the relationship between the patient and the medical team providing the service is the core function that supports customer's support for or against various modalities associated with PCC (Chang et al., 2013). Consequently, Balbale, Turcios, and LaVela (2015) stressed that the evidence supports healthcare workers are transitioning from the physician-centric care model to a PCC model that supports tailoring treatment centered on the patient and family needs. However, at the core of the delivery of healthcare is the healthcare leader. These leaders vary among hospital managers, physicians, treatment teams, and other administrative personnel. Bradbury and Lifvergren (2016) suggested that effective leaders understand and embrace the needs of their patients through a PCC strategy that strengthens and promotes innovative ideas to enhance the overall patient's experience and quality care.

### **Transition**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study was to understand what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. In this literature review, I provided a historical perspective and discussion of PCC, assessing PCC, patient centered-care as a measurement within healthcare, PCC within ACA, PCC relevance in today's

healthcare delivery systems, PCC within a value-based healthcare model, value-based purchasing, PCMH, healthcare leadership and continuous quality improvement in healthcare. In the next section, I will describe the validation for the use of a qualitative descriptive multiple case study to explore patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality patient care. In Section 3, I will provide my presentations of the findings with a description of the finding's application to professional practice and implications for social change.

# Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive multiple case study was to explore and present an enhanced understanding of how healthcare managers strategically apply patient-centered strategies to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without decreasing the quality of a patient's care. Using a multiple case study enabled me to address the principal research question based on feedback from multiple viewpoints within a healthcare setting.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive multiple case study was to explore what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. The participants consisted of six midlevel healthcare managers from several departments located at six full-service acute care healthcare facilities that employ 150 people or more in Virginia, who have reduced the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. Conducting this study may lead to positive social change for elderly patients by improving the delivery and access of quality PCC while catalyzing, developing, and implementing cost reduction strategies that healthcare managers can employ to make healthcare more accessible.

### Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in this study was to collect, analyze, and interpret data and results garnered from participants' interviews and archival data. Hyett et al. (2014) suggested a researcher seek out generalities and uniqueness about a case by considering

cautiously and thoroughly the environment, historical background, physical setting, and other institutional and relative regulatory factors. Noble and Smith (2015) noted that the role of the researcher is to facilitate participants' sharing of perspectives and experiences regarding the phenomena. Houghton, Murphy, Shaw, and Casey (2015) stated that a role for a researcher is to gather material from observations and attempt to comprehend the phenomenon of interest based on the meanings that participants provide. I did not have a personal or professional relationship with the participants. I do not work in the healthcare field; therefore, my career experience should not have affected research outcomes.

I sought to maintain all ethical standards during this study by adhering to the protocols outlined in the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I stressed the adherence to protecting the rights and welfare of participants as well as their autonomy as stipulated in the *Belmont Report*. I adhered to Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) process by conforming to ethical standards compliance requirements before conducting research. To meet this objective, I submitted an electronic submission of the IRB form with the inclusion of the research proposal description, data collection tools, research participants, and informed consent. To meet the ethical standards of Walden University and U.S. federal regulations, I did not collect data until I received approval from the Walden IRB.

Ponelis (2015) stated using a qualitative exploratory multiple case study allows the researcher to explore the strategies in a real-life setting. As the study proceeds, the researcher should work to include shared experiences among participants through

interview questions, data collection, and data analysis. I sought to mitigate bias by identifying and engaging in a process that exposed and eliminated predispositions. A researcher can reduce bias through a self-assessment, which connotes reflexivity while increasing dependability through the transparency of the study's development (Moon Brewer, Januchowski-Hartley, Adams, & Blackman, 2016). Sorsa, Kiikkala, and Åstedt-Kurki (2015) indicated *bracketing* provides researchers the means to mitigate predetermined experiences, attitudes, and beliefs during the extent of the study to avoid tainting the process with bias. According to Antwi and Hanza (2015), the researcher should remain neutral during the data collection process. A lack of a relationship with the participants should improve the researcher's ability to mitigate personal bias in a study (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Also, I used peer debriefing as well as new information to help clarify bias when I analyze themes and outcomes.

This case study data included interview transcripts, researcher notes, and associated documented evidence. Yin (2014) suggested interviewing participants with different views throughout the organization as a value-added method. Goldberg and Allen (2015) suggested researchers prepare for future discussions from readers by presenting preliminary results to participants while incorporating their feedback throughout the study. I reviewed my case study results with my participants to garner feedback for validating transcripts to verify their responses.

### **Participants**

Robinson (2014) stated identifying the participants who can best enlighten the research question and understanding of the phenomenon for a qualitative study is

purposive sampling. Elo et al. (2014) indicated convenience, theoretical, and snowballing are other types of qualitative sampling for identifying participants' knowledge of the research topic. Elo et al. (2014) stated researchers could improve the reliability of a study by specifying the sampling method and the participants for their study. As such, the participants a researcher selects should be those individuals capable of supporting the researcher's questions and able to enhance the understanding of the study (Sutton & Austin, 2015).

The target population included six midlevel healthcare managers from six acute care facilities in Virginia that execute strategies to reduce the cost of elderly ambulatory and acute patients' healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. I solicited these participants through the hospital's human resources department and the American College of Healthcare Executives national and local chapters, where I am a member. Palinkas et al. (2015) stated participants who meet a precise standard by having a higher knowledge of the phenomenon of interest through their capabilities are desirable participants. Yin (2014) stated the participants of a case study should be knowledgeable about the phenomenon of the researcher's study. Palinkas et al. (2015) recommended selecting individuals or groups that are knowledgeable of the phenomenon. Antwi and Hamza (2015) recommended the researcher encourage participants under study to speak freely on the phenomenon with which they have experience.

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2015), it is important for researchers to establish relationships with potential participants. Lowther et al. (2016) recommended researchers develop relationships with their participants by (a) employing compassion,

(b) using open and nonjudgmental conversations, (c) communicating trust and support, and (d) reiterating to participants the importance of their contribution to society. I instituted honest and mutual relationships with participants, abided by the ethical principles of nonmaleficence, and ensured participants' privacy to enhance a successful working relationship with participants (Petrova, Dewing, & Camilleri, 2016). Palinkas et al. (2015) indicated a researcher using a qualitative method often relies on specific rules for defining the number of participants. Palinkas et al. (2015) stated the type of analysis stipulates the level of detail required for homogeneity, for example, a small sample size of 3-6 participants versus a large sample group.

I garnered interviewees through purposeful sampling via the American College of Healthcare Executives membership database, telephone, and e-mail to solicit and communicate with participants. Palinkas et al. (2015) defined purposeful sampling as a technique for identifying and selecting information-rich cases based on limited resources. Palinkas et al. (2015) specified that purposeful sampling involves selecting individuals or groups of people specifically who may provide an in-depth understanding of the research phenomenon. I followed up with an email before data collection to confirm the volunteers' participation in the study. Participants used e-mail to specify their preference for a face-to-face interview or Skype that explains the ethical and privacy protection of participants. Yin (2014) recommended researchers use an open-ended question when engaging participants by e-mail, telephone, and face-to-face. Johnston et al. (2016) stated interviews should last a maximum of 60 minutes so the researcher can capture the voice

of the participants. Researchers should use a semistructured process when conducting an interview (McIntosh & Morse, 2015).

# **Research Method and Design**

Hyett et al. (2014) stated a research method includes an established set of specific processes, tools, and techniques to gather and analyze data. Healthcare researchers can use qualitative analysis to develop effective strategies for exploring healthcare managers' experiences in providing the delivery of PCC strategies that reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care (Lewis, 2015).

### **Research Method**

Three research methods used by healthcare researchers are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). I used a qualitative research method. Leung (2015) defined qualitative research as a systematic collection and interpretation of documented material obtained through conversations and observations within a natural setting. Sutton and Austin (2015) asserted healthcare researchers should seek an increased understanding of their study participants' or group's natural experiences to gain a fuller description of the phenomenon. Kalu (2017) stated a qualitative research method signifies an orderly and objective means of labeling and measuring phenomena. Healthcare researchers can use qualitative research to understand and experience the actual phenomenon in its natural setting (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Tayabas, León, and Espino (2014) concluded researchers who pursue qualitative research for healthcare research would benefit by identifying areas and programs that need improving and processes required to create change within an organization. According to

Marwick (2014), most researchers who use quantitative studies use observation and ex post facto designs within a controlled environment based on statistics and numbers.

Barnham (2015) stated researchers use quantitative methods to examine social phenomenon, test theories, and establish a problem based on variables consisting of statistics to determine if their theory explains or predicts phenomena of interest. A quantitative approach would not have provided the means to examine the participants' perceptions and experiences.

Although researchers support the use of a mixed methods approach to study a phenomenon, it was not an appropriate method for this study. A mixed methods study is a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods. However, the quantitative method cannot account for the experiences and assumptions of healthcare managers concerning the impacts of healthcare for Medicare-dependent patients. A mixed methods design supports a researcher's aim to extend and validate qualitative and quantitative methods, hence detailing a comprehensive meaning of the phenomenon (Palinkas et al., 2015). However, the goal of this study was to explore strategies of a phenomenon based on personal experiences of healthcare leaders; a qualitative inquiry was beneficial for studying those strategies used to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of a patient's care. French, Luo, and Bose (2017) suggested that mixed methods is a holistic approach for researchers to pursue new initiatives. Through face-to-face interviews and data collecting, a mixed methods researcher can assess the demands of caregivers and the logistics to analyze their business processes. The rationale used to employ a qualitative case study over a quantitative or mixed methods study was

the ability to attain a deeper universal view of the research problem that can assist understanding of the problem and situation (Yin, 2014). The goal of this study was to explore patient-centered strategies from the perspective of the healthcare manager. A qualitative method was advantageous for studying the experiences of healthcare managers.

# **Research Design**

To evaluate patient-centered strategies used by managers to reduce cost and maintain quality patient care, I chose the case study design to explore this phenomenon. Yazan (2015) stated a case study design provides the researcher with the means to assess the complexities and comprehensive study of a phenomenon. According to Moeyaert, Maggin, and Verkuilen (2016), the case study design provides researchers the means to focus on one or more subjects via observation repeatedly over a defined period until one achieves their desired outcomes.

Houghton et al. (2015) suggested healthcare researchers require qualitative research skills to interpret data collection, the nature of a healthcare system, and the organizational structure. A qualitative case study approach can provide the means to explore what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. By exploring and analyzing a multiple case study, a researcher can fully understand and communicate the significance of conducting a study into a single problem (Morse & McEvoy, 2014).

Additional study designs considered included phenomenology and ethnography (Maggio, 2016). Gill (2014) summarized phenomenology was both a philosophical

movement and a family of qualitative research designs subdivided as either descriptive or interpretive. Van Manen (2017) emphasized a phenomenology study includes exploring the quintessence of a participant's knowledge through interviews and observation.

Furthermore, Yin (2014) stated the phenomenological design focuses on how the experience of a phenomenon affects participants. Howlett (2014) noted an ethnographic design is for developing a description and interpretation of culture, social system, or group. Researchers who implement an ethnographic design seek to explore the culture of individuals possessing shared behavior patterns and beliefs (Balyer, Karatas, & Alci, 2015). Baskerville and Myers (2015) argued that ethnography addresses conceptual issues of human behavior from actual accounts of field experiences.

Zill et al. (2015) explained the differences between a phenomenon and perspective referring to the different manner healthcare managers and medical professionals define and implement PCC. While PCC may delineate the constraints of the study, healthcare managers, and medical professionals may apply various strategies to accomplish improved patient care. As such, Yin (2014) stated the boundaries between the phenomenon and context might not be transparent. The study's limitations provide the parameters of the case. A multiple case study design was beneficial for exploring the delivery of PCC strategies that reduce the cost of elderly patient's healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. Multiple design constraints include a researcher's budget, time, and access to quality participants. Constraints can influence a researcher study; however, small groups of participants who are resourceful and informative are

more often better suited to achieve data saturation when the study's scope is narrow (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016; Power & Gendron, 2015).

# **Population and Sampling**

I used purposeful sampling to select participants who have the prerequisite experiences and skills necessary to address the study interview questions. Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, and McKibbon (2015) stated purposeful sampling provides criteria for researchers to select participants with specific skills, expertise, and education. A sample size of six midlevel healthcare managers should offer the breadth of experiences, knowledge, and perceptions of strategies for reducing the cost of patient care without reducing the quality of patient care. According to Fusch and Ness (2015), a qualitative researcher study can limit the number of participants to between three and six participants.

Cridland, Jones, Caputi, and Magee (2015) stated the semistructured interview is the most common type of interview that researchers can adjust to meet the needs of various interviewees. Semistructured interviews are value-added for increasing the reliability and validity of data collection based on the interviewee 's knowledge and understanding of the questions (Yin, 2014). I used semistructured interviews composed of 10 questions to facilitate with two to four subquestions to enable the participants to address the main research question.

Morse, Lowery, and Steury (2014) stated the number of participants in a study should enable the researcher to gather enough data to sustain researching the problem. A sample size of six midlevel healthcare managers should provide suitable data and

saturation for this study (Yin, 2014). Morse et al. (2014) stated data saturation is the means by which a researcher determines when there are sufficient data for exploring the phenomenon. The target population consisted of six midlevel healthcare managers from six acute care facilities in Virginia who developed and implemented strategies to reduce the cost of patients' care without reducing the quality of patient care. I solicited six participants for this study based on input from the hospital's human resources department and the American College of Healthcare Executives national and local chapters, where I am a member. I attained data saturation by gathering critical and substantial data through interviews and focus groups. According to Fusch and Ness (2015), researchers will reach data saturation when they have attained enough information to reproduce the study. Morse et al. (2014) stated a researcher's study achieves saturation when data collection meets a threshold where no new information or themes emerge from study participants and other types of data. According to Malterud et al. (2016), the selection of six participants in a study should be an adequate sample size to achieve saturation when I no longer receive information that adds to the development of my study.

Fusch and Ness (2015) asserted conducting interviews is a method a researcher can use to obtain data saturation. Fusch and Ness (2015) stated there is no one-size-fits-all method for a researcher to obtain data saturation; however, more is not essentially superior than less. Qualitative researchers aim to explore and detect the key issues associated with the phenomena; hence, no one-size-fits-all method for a researcher to obtain data saturation; however, more is not essentially superior than less (Roy et al., 2015).

The following five factors affect attaining data saturation within a qualitative study: the scope of the investigation, characteristics of the target audience, expertise of the research, resources, and research audience. Malterud et al. (2016) suggested the more information a population of interviews presents relevant to the actual study, the fewer participants the study will need to explore the phenomena. As the researcher, I reached data saturation by focusing on controlling the scope of this study through established restrictions that support a thorough exploration of participants' feedback throughout the case study (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The characteristics of my study participants were homogenous. For example, participants sharing similar traits; hence, the target interviewees will enable saturation for the reason individual interviews will share similar responses to research questions (Condon et al., 2015). Roy et al. (2015) stated proficient researchers rarely need a large group of interviews to acquire data saturation.

The sample size for this study was appropriate for this study because healthcare managers are leading complex organizations with the responsibility for ensuring safety, patient-care, cost management, and information-rich data regarding the phenomenon (Roy et al., 2015). Fusch and Ness (2015) stated researchers must ensure data saturation within their study to guarantee quality research and achieve validity. A researcher's saturation of themes determines the point at which one has sampled sufficient participants (Morse et al., 2014). Robinson (2014) stated a researcher achieves theoretical saturation when continued data collection results in no new emerging themes. At this point, the researcher has gathered enough data to justify claiming to achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness 2015).

### **Ethical Research**

Ethical issues and challenges vary across cultural sans regions; henceforth, respect for participants, consent, and integrity are mandatory for any study (Vitak et al., 2016). According to Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, and Khodyakov (2015), the researcher should ensure one's study is ethically acceptable by the participants, the studied organization, and the institute the researcher seeks to gain approval. I took every measure to ensure conducting this study complies with the highest level of ethical standards. I completed a National Institute of Health (NIH) Protecting Human Research Participants course to meet the basic requirements to conduct a study.

Ali and May (2017) stressed that researchers seek out voluntary participants by determining if they satisfactorily understand the nature of the study and the consequences of participating in the study. Vitak et al. (2016) recommended that the informed consent document involves the researcher providing identified participants pertinent information about the research while engaging the participants in writing to confirm their willingness to be a participant in the study. I requested each participant to sign the informed consent document. I informed the participants before and during the study that they could withdraw from this study based on their desire, with no penalty. If they decided to withdraw from the study, I would have asked the participant to send an email to quincy.handy@waldenu.edu or call to inform me of their intent not to participate. However, if participants neither called nor sent an email, I followed up with each participant that had not confirmed their participation by phone, email, or certified mail.

The IRB board provides the researcher with the best opportunity to ensure the study meets the prerequisites to conduct a successful study (Hudson & Collins, 2015). I did not identify my study participants by name; however, I identified the geographical location of the facilities where I conducted my study. I submitted my IRB application for approval before seeking support from participants. I met with each participant before engaging him or her for a signature in support of my study. I exercised characteristics based on the Belmont Report three guiding principles that are (a) respect for the participants, (b) beneficence, and (c) fairness in participant selection (Vitak et al., 2016).

As the researcher, I exercised professionalism throughout the entire study by emphasizing timeliness, patience, adhering to defined protocol measures, and conditions established within the participant's consent form (Kass et al., 2015). Belmonte and Opotow (2017) defined data archiving as the transfer of records from the participant to a repository authorized to assess, preserve, and offer access to the participants' records. Data archiving is a process for storing, securing, and preserving research data and resources for future research and continuations of similar studies (Wang, Kung, & Byrd, 2018).

I took every precaution to safeguard my participants' information from loss and damage. All data collected both electronically and manually will reside in a secure, fireproof safe for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all stored data.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

Throughout this study, I was the primary instrument for data collection, using open-ended, semistructured questions in face-to-face interviews with healthcare

managers or by Skype. McIntosh and Morse (2015) stated researchers should use semistructured interviews to discover participants' viewpoints about a phenomenon or situation relating to the study topic. Kallio, Pietilä, Johnson, and Kangasniemimi (2016) stated semistructured questions provide the researcher flexibility and the chance to address issues that arise extemporaneously during the interview. I used Yin's (2014) protocol framework to structure my interview and improve the reliability of my case study. Yin's (2014) protocol consists of four sections: (a) an overview of the case study, (b) protocol purpose, (c) data collection procedures, and (d) a guide for the case study report (see Appendix A).

I aimed to conduct my interviews by asking semistructured questions in a logical order. I decided to change the order each participant receives the interview questions if the conversation flow of exchange stimulates the need to alter the order of the interview questions (Crocker et al., 2014). As the researcher, I used open-ended semistructured questions and additional questions as needed. Yin (2015) stated the researcher should administer the same interview protocol to all participants to maintain consistency throughout the study. The semistructured interview consisted of ten open-ended questions to inspire participants to provide an in-depth understanding of the research question (see Appendix B).

Yin (2014) stated the interview is one of the best techniques for conducting qualitative research. Researchers can employ several methods to conduct an interview. Three of these methods are face-to-face interviews, group interviews, and telephonic, for example, Skype interviews. Based on Carter and Baghurst (2014), the researcher

becomes the instrument of data collection because they provide a means for participants to discuss their experiences. Barnham (2015) stated the interview is a method distinguishable in various research methodologies. Sutton and Austin (2015) recommended the researcher audio record all interviews and analyze the findings by transcripts. As well, researchers should use Skype when participants are difficult to garner a face-to-face interview. Data obtained through Skype can provide an increased account of participant viewpoints on patient-centered strategies an important theme of this paper (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). As the researcher, I used a coding system to identify study participants and minimize ethical concerns, confidentiality, and privacy. Sutton and Austin (2015) stated a researcher should methodically read each line of the transcript and apply the code to ensure one captures the participant's conversation. Yin (2014) emphasizes that researchers establish a protocol when conducting a qualitative study. I defined my interview protocol (see Appendix A) with four sections: an overview, data collection procedures, data collection questions, and a guide for the case study report. Before initiating this study, I restated to the participants that their participation is voluntary; they had the right to withdraw at any time, and that confidentiality would remain in effect throughout this study.

I safeguarded each participant's data to ensure I adhere to Walden University institutional review board (IRB) processes. As the researcher, I electronically submitted my IRB form along with a description of the research proposal, data collection instruments, research participants, and Federal Regulations applicable to this study. I did not collect any data until receipt of approval from the Walden IRB committee.

As the principal data collection instrument, I coded participants' experiences from face-to-face, group, telephonic interviews, and Skype interviews. Participants' perceptions included discussion regarding reducing the cost of elderly care for patients and the viability of patient-centered strategies to maintain quality patient care. Three issues explored in the interviews include (a) use of midlevel healthcare managers, (b) patient-centered strategies, and (c) elderly-dependent patients. Cypress (2017) stated the reliability and validity of a data collection instrument are critical measures that extend interviews' answers by summarizing questions, goals, and objectives of the study. Dependability is the qualitative equivalent of reliability within a quantitative design (Hays, Wood, Dahl, & Kirk-Jenkins, 2016). Researchers can achieve reliability in a qualitative study through consistency from using original sourced form and context (Leung, 2015). Evaluating the reliability and truthfulness of a study aids in authenticating the research findings (Elo et al., 2014). To achieve the reliability of the data collection instrument, the researcher should explain to the participants the process and a list of identical interview questions for each participant. To help ensure reliability in interviewing, McIntosh and Morse (2015) recommended researchers request clarification and follow-up information if the researcher is unclear about the meaning of the information.

A quality control technique important for conducting a study that I used is member checking. Member checking is a process of validating the credibility of participants' results (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). According to Birt et al. (2016), participants can review the data they provided to the researcher for accuracy.

Member checking provides the researcher with the ability to reduce risk and misunderstanding (Lub, 2015).

#### **Data Collection Technique**

The multitude of data collection techniques requires researchers to center their techniques on a few versus the variety of techniques available to researchers. According to O'Cathain et al. (2015), qualitative researchers should select from the following range of data collection techniques to conduct their research telephone, face-to-face interviews, focus groups, nonparticipant observation, case notes, paper, audio, video, diaries, discussions in online chat rooms, and social media. Elo et al. (2014) stated a researcher should select a data collection technique and analysis that support the framework of the data collection and the overarching research question.

Snowball sampling is a method whereby researchers seek out additional participants for their study based on their acquaintances and peers (Robert, 2015).

Snowball sampling provides a means for researchers to acquire participants that may respond unlikely to a volunteer request due to the nature of the study (Robinson, 2014). A disadvantage of snowballing is some of the participants may lack the mixture of experiences and knowledge necessary to expand on the study (Palinkas et al., 2015).

Purposeful sampling is a method used by researchers when their study has a clearly defined theoretical or conceptual framework (Leung, 2015). Additionally, researchers who use purposeful sampling seek participants who provide relevant and productive data about the questions developed for their study to provide a definite explanation of the phenomenon (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014; Gentles et al., 2015).

Robinson (2014) noted snowball and purposeful sampling are both instrumental for conducting qualitative research. Both of these sampling methods are useful for maximizing efficiency and validity (Palinkas et al., 2015). I selected my participants through purposeful sampling. A weakness of purposeful sampling is that the researcher's own bias with choosing the participants can impede one's ability to draw inferences from the participant pool (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). Baškarada (2014) asserted researchers must guard against influencing the participants of the study that could skew the data collection and analyses.

The primary data collection technique used throughout this study was semistructured interviewing. Utilizing semistructured interviews provides the researcher with the ability to conduct in-depth conversations with the interviewee based on experiences expressed, perceptions and opinions garnered from the interviewee (Cridland et al., 2015). Semistructured interviews provide the researcher freedom to ask additional questions, adjust the order questions are given and adjust the intent of the questions to gain a greater understanding of the subject discussed (Kallio et al., 2016). Cridland et al. (2015) stated the researcher should encourage participants throughout their interview to emphasize portions of the discussion they indicate important to the discussion.

The participants for this study received an estimate of the time I would spend with each person and a list of predetermined questions. I used the interview questions to conduct face-to-face interviews with each participant based on the combination of literature reviewed and my personal experience and education. I used an alphanumerical code to ensure I maintained confidentiality for all participants. A data analysis technique

I employed is member checking. Elo et al. (2014) stated member checking is a continuous process researcher's use during data analysis where participants can check the findings to ensure they accurately reflect their experiences. Morse (2015) stated using member checking improves the credibility of a researcher's findings through increased engagement and enabling observations of participants. Member checking can help ensure the credibility of a researcher's findings from recorded interviews of participants (Cope, 2014).

I developed follow-up questions to explore themes and ideas to help increase clarity and stimulate discussion from interviewees while ensuring I maintained participants' privacy. Using a case study requires secondary data that can include archival data, financial reports, and internal transcripts as provided by participants along with participant interviews to accomplish methodological triangulation for this study (Whitmore, Baxter, Kaasalainen, & Ploeg, 2018). I sought secondary data, for example, internal publications and Joint Commission reports from participants.

## **Data Organization Technique**

Employing data organization helps to ensure the researcher can prevent and mitigate errors, and that the instruments and material used during the interviews are valid and reliable (McIntosh, Kamei, Adams, & Hassan, 2016; Dikko, 2016). I collected data via semistructured interviews to better recognize the participant's experiences and my observations. The researcher who uses semistructured interviews can garner flexibility with issues that are important to the participants (Cridland et al., 2015). Based on Whitmore, Baxter, Kaasalainen, and Ploeg (2018), I employed semistructured interviews

supported through audio recordings and laptop for manual transcribing. Also, I established a file system coordinated with labels where I will store each type of data, for example, recordings, e-mail, and consent forms. I will secure all data collected via password-encryption on a computer file and secure data within a fingerprint secure file container for a minimum of 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all data collected to ensure participants' confidentially,

## **Data Analysis**

Qualitative data analysis requires the researcher to identify, sort, integrate, and synthesize information gathered through observations, interviews, and other methods; determine patterns and themes to answer the research question. Bengtsson (2016) suggested that data analysis in qualitative research encompasses working with data, organizing it, synthesizing it, and searching for themes and patterns. Yin (2014) suggested that data analysis consists of five steps: collecting the data, coding the data into groups, regrouping the data into themes, evaluating the information, and developing conclusions or findings. Twining, Heller, Nussbaum, and Tsai (2017) agreed with Yin that data analysis involves examining, categorizing, tabulating, testing, or combining evidence for empirically constructed conclusions. Based on the nature of this study, my data analysis followed the abovementioned Yin's (2014) five steps.

Noble and Smith (2015) stated a researcher could improve credibility through triangulation, which one can use to study a phenomenon. Morse (2015) stated triangulation assures validity through verification for clarifying the phenomenon the researcher is studying. The main purpose of triangulation is to confirm data and ensure

the data collected are complete and valid (Morse, 2015). Researchers can attain triangulation of their case study by comparing various paradigms simultaneously and comparatively (Lub, 2015). Researchers use methodological triangulation to assure the validity and reliability of emergent themes through cross-checking, comparing, and contrasting professional journals and previously studied data (Morse, 2015). I used methodological triangulation to check and recheck, compare, and contrast the consistency of the findings to ensure the validity and reliability of the results. I obtained the data and information for this study by conducting semistructured interviews with six midlevel healthcare managers from six acute care facilities located in Virginia. I also utilized archival documents and online secondary data that includes financial reports, annual reports, mission statements, and other working papers. Dun et al. (2015) stated the secondary data requires less cost to obtain and is readily available eliminating the need to incentivize research participants. Whitmore, Baxter, Kaasalainen, and Ploeg (2018) stated one could collect data during the interviews with a digital recorder and via manual transcription to analyze the data. Likewise, Hays et al. (2016) stated researchers involved with analysis use data to discern significant themes, patterns, and descriptions that support the critical research questions of one's study. Scholars determined that data software tools are critical assets for researchers when conducting analyses to finalize data captured from interviews and manual transcripts (McIntosh et al., 2014).

Moreover, computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) is a critical tool that provides researchers the capability to manage multiple tasks, organize data sources, consolidate information according to themes, and identify patterns for data

(Talanquer, 2014). I used NVivo 12 software to support analyzing my data. NVivo is software that specifically supports qualitative analyses as well as provides the researcher immediate access to data results after input. Zamawe (2015) stated using NVivo enables a researcher to code transcripts and audio files effectively and efficiently. I uploaded all recorded data and manually-transcribed information into NVivo to organize, to code data, analyze, and validate data.

Carter and Baghurst (2014) stated coding is a process that requires the researcher to tag category data with type names or descriptive words and then group that data into themes. I maintained the participants' confidentiality throughout this study by using standard initials that represent a title with a two letter and number combination. Chief Patient Health Experience Officer (CPHEO A-1) Chief Population Health Officer (CPHO A-2) and Chief Transformation Officer (CTO A-3) are examples of hospital representatives. As such, coding of data is for identifying patterns and themes (Sturges et al., 2015). Gale (2014) stated one should classify all of the data and link it methodically with other parts and types of data. Once the transcription phase was complete, I transcribed the participants' interviews and uploaded it into NVivo 12 to facilitate analyzing the data.

## Reliability and Validity

Quality is a goal researchers' aim to achieve within their study by assuring studies' reliability and validity (Cypress, 2017). According to Hays et al. (2016), reliability reflects the dependability of measures while validity is a concept concern with being justifiable, accurate, and truthful. Failure to obtain saturation in case studies can

negatively affect the studies' validity and reliability (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Transferability resembles external validity, dependability mirrors reliability, and confirmability reflects objectivity within a qualitative study (Hays et al., 2016).

# Reliability

Morse (2015) described reliability as dependability, consistency, or repeatability of a researcher's data collection, interpretation, and analysis. Objective researchers seek to enable other researchers to repeat their results using the same or similar methods. Noble and Smith (2015) stated reliability describes the consistency of the analytical processes, as well as accounting for participants and research method biases that might influence a researchers' findings. Noble and Smith (2015) stated the researcher could assess the reliability of their study findings by making a judgment about the soundness in relation to the application and appropriateness of methods accepted and the integrity of the conclusion. According to Twining et al. (2017), a researcher establishes reliability for their study when the data collection procedures replicate the same results. Cypress (2017) stated researchers assert rigor in qualitative research through reliability and validity that are essential components of quality. Hence, I assured reliability by checking this study for repeat patterns, checking for processes' consistency with response to the methods and scored results of data, auditing interviews, and analyzing notes and data collected throughout this study.

**Dependability.** Connelly (2016) stated dependability occurs when the researcher establishes an audit trail to log research notes of all activities that occurred during the study to review data captured during interviews and observations. A researcher achieves

dependability by using overlapping methods such as triangulation to ensure trustworthiness (Morse, 2015). Cypress (2017) stated a researcher could enhance dependability by having a doctoral committee review a researcher's acquired themes and descriptors for validity. Likewise, member checking provides the data for review by participants to improve the dependability and credibility of data gathered during the study (Pashaki et al., 2015). I employed member checking techniques to increase the dependability of my study.

## Validity

Noble and Smith (2015) stated validity refers to the truthfulness and application of the methods used by researchers and how well the results of their study can be accurately reproduce. Equally, the researcher should consider the validity of their study by framing the discussion regarding conscientiousness, empathy, sensitivity, and respect (Lub, 2015). Kern (2018) stated triangulation increases the assurance of validity and enhances the researcher's understanding of the studied phenomena. Kern (2018) concluded that methodological triangulation results from the convergence of different data collected from multiple sources on the same phenomenon, which assures the validity of the study. I observed my participants and collected secondary material from the acute care facilities to study the phenomenon through methodological triangulation. Hays et al. (2016) described the validity of a qualitative study as credibility and transferability.

**Credibility.** Credibility is the qualitative equivalent to quantitative studies' internal validity (Hays et al., 2016). Elo et al. (2014) stated that a central tenant of validity is trustfulness. A researcher can meet the goal of truthfulness by approaching the

analysis phase of the study through preparation, organizing, and reporting on results. Researchers who select a method suitable for others to understand their study design will help to ensure the credibility of the study analyze (Elo et al., 2014). Baroudi, Chileshe, Hosseini, Zuo, and Baroudi (2015) suggested achieving credibility in qualitative studies through peer-debriefings conducted in face-to-face meetings and analytical memos to improve findings. As such, a researcher can achieve credibility throughout their study for similarities and consistencies. Triangulation is a means used to reveal as much depth as possible in a study (Hyett et al., 2014). Hays et al. (2016) recommended researchers employ triangulation to collect more data from additional sources as well as cross-check their data for reliability to assure the validity of qualitative research. Henceforth, triangulation enhances the credibility of a researcher's findings. I used NVivo 12 software program to help facilitate finding themes and verbatim transcription from participants' interviews with healthcare managers and administers.

Transferability. Transferability denotes the extent a researchers' qualitative study findings are transferable to other contexts and individuals which in quantitative studies compares to generalizability (Morse, 2015). Transferability within a qualitative study infers the findings of a study will enable others to advance or extend the original study or provide research material that another individual can generalize for their research (Cope, 2014). Cypress (2016) stated purposive sampling enhances the transferability of the study results. I positioned this study to meet the basic tenets for transferability by establishing case study protocols and databases, for example, a protocol

guide for case studies, data collection procedures, and interview questions (Yazan, 2015; Yin, 2014).

Confirmability. Qualitative researchers acknowledge that dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability are analogous criteria to achieve trustworthiness and ensure the rigor of qualitative findings (Anney, 2014). Cope (2014) stated a researcher achieves confirmability in a qualitative study when the data represent the participants' responses and not the researcher's biases or viewpoints. Connelly (2016) stated confirmability is the neutrality or the degree researchers can repeat consistent results. I ensured confirmability by conducting an audit trail to confirm findings, interpretations, and recommendations supported by data (Chellan & Sibiya, 2018). I utilized an audit trail to review and study all procedures, themes or categories identified, and interpretations by implementing a running account of the process (Cypress, 2017). I also used a reflexive journal to achieve conformability by recording all events, data collection, analysis, and personal reflections (Anney, 2014). I retained a reflexive journal to capture participants' views to bracket observations and bias (Cope, 2014).

**Data Saturation.** Sutton and Austin (2015) stated a researcher achieves data saturation after interviews with the new participant's experience with the phenomenon in question reveal redundancy among data set. Saturation occurs when a researcher can no longer obtain new data and when further coding is no longer practical (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Palinkas et al. (2015) recommended researchers employ an iterative methodology of sampling and resampling to ensure theoretical saturation occurs. I ensured data saturation while achieving the goal of confirmability for this study. I utilized in-depth

interviews and field notes as a strategy for collecting data. According to Palinkas et al. (2015), researchers use purposeful sampling in a qualitative study to help identify and choose information-rich cases linked to the phenomenon of the research. Furthermore, Robinson (2014) stated the sample size helps to ensure rigor and the appropriateness of the sampling strategy. According to Yin (2014), a case study with 10 or few participants could obtain data saturation essential for establishing credibility. Hence, I chose a sample size of 6 participants for my study. Anney (2014) stressed that member checks are critical processes for researchers; as the researcher must test all the data to alleviate internal conflict in their quest for credibility and data saturation.

## **Transition and Summary**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to understand what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. I employed semistructured interviews through audio recordings, a laptop, and publicly available documents to explore the strategies and participants' experiences. I used methodological triangulation to assure credibility. I selected participants at the mid to upper levels of management who work for a healthcare system that has implemented patient-centered strategies to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care.

The objective for this section was to describe the role of the researcher, the participants for the study, the research methods and design, population sampling, ethical research, data collection techniques, and analysis for assuring reliability, validity, and transferability of the research instrument and data collection process. In Section 3, I will

complete the following: (a) the presentation of findings, (b) applications to professional practice, (c) implications for social change, (d) recommendations for action, (e) recommendation for future study, and (f) my principal conclusions.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. In Section 3, I provide a detailed review of the data collected, the conceptual framework, and the findings related to the research question. The data analysis findings provide awareness of strategies healthcare managers employ that support PCC while ensuring a profit for their stakeholders. I conclude Section 3 with recommendations for further studies, thoughts on my experience while conducting this study process, and a summation of the study conclusions.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

I conducted semistructured interviews with six midlevel healthcare managers who have the responsibility for leading, developing, implementing, and monitoring PCC strategies within their medical facilities located throughout Virginia. All of these full-service acute care facilities are complex adaptive systems that are ever-changing, reactive, proactive, and distinctive within a natural environment. I collected the following hospitals' opened-sourced reported performance information as secondary data: the Joint Commission Gold Seal of Approval Quality Report, The CMS Compare Datasets reports, mission and vision statements, and list of the hospitals' websites-leadership structure. I coded all documents to maintain confidentiality and concealed each participant and their facilities with the following codes: P1H1, P2H2, P3H3, P4H4, P5H5, and P6H6. The codes H1–H6 denoted hospitals and P1–P6 denoted participants. The conceptual

framework that grounded this study included PCC and the valued-centered healthcare model. I conducted data triangulation based on analysis of interview data, secondary data, and the literature review. I used member checking and methodological triangulation to ensure credibility, data saturation, and confirmability of data outcomes.

In this study, I explored the perceptions of healthcare managers concerning the effects of the patient-centered model within their business model. The main research question for this study was the following: What patient-centered strategies do healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of Medicare patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care? Throughout this study, I served as the primary instrument for data collection using open-ended, semistructured questions in face-to-face interviews with healthcare managers. The four themes that emerged from my data analysis were PCC matters, management leadership strategies, control methods for monitoring cost, and maximizing community healthcare services. I used NVivo 12 analysis software to organize and evaluate my data and link comparable coding categories together for the data analysis. The data analysis process I used comprised compiling, disassembling, and reassembling data to arrive at my four major key themes. In summary, Section 3 covers the following topics: (a) an introduction (b) a detailed presentation of the findings, (c) applications to professional practice, (d) implications for social change, (e) recommendations for action, (f) recommendations for further research, (g) personal reflections of the study, and (h) a conclusion.

The primary research question for this study was: What patient-centered strategies do healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without

reducing the quality of patient care? Effective strategies within a healthcare organization are about making choices necessary to differentiate one organization from another to meet their customers, for example, patients and stakeholders, needs (Porter & Lee, 2015). According to Lee et al. (2016), value-based payment models stimulate the delivery of efficient, high quality, PCC through financial penalties and rewards. The frequency of the codes and the resultant four themes aligned with the conceptual framework of this study. Table 2 shows the frequency of references to the key themes that I derived from the data triangulation process, which included documents reviewed, interviews, personal notes, and peer-reviewed literature.

Table 2

Frequency of Themes and Number of Participants

Description of themes	Frequency of theme reference	Occurrences
Patient-centered care matters	40	P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6
Leadership strategies	21	P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6
Cost reduction strategies	20	P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6
Maximizing community healthcare services	19	P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, P6

#### **Theme 1: Patient-Centered Care Matters**

All six participants in this study identified the importance of implementing a PCC model within a system that emphasized value-based health services, cost reduction, and value for the patient. Participants' responses revealed the importance of training and monitoring staff to evaluate their ability to provide and communicate effective PCC. P5 noted H5 staff annually participate in training to meet regional and state regulations per the CMS. P2 noted the treatment team has the responsibility to educate the patient and family to ensure they understand the treatment plan and who will be delivering the treatment. P2 further stated, "A good treatment plan would eliminate wasted time the medical treatment team spends with the patient that in turn will reduce labor cost and employee burnout." P4 noted that as an executive director, all staff members including medical, support services, and administration personnel receive training on customer service and the importance of using multiple forms of communications in support of enhancing the patient's experience. P5's responses confirmed participants 1, 2, and 4's reactions by stating, "When you have a well-trained staff, and everybody is doing what they are supposed to do based on their training, you find that patient-centered care quality goes up." P1 stated,

Across all specialties, patient-centered care not only reduces costs but also through good communications, the care team can keep that patient at the center of their care, which helps to ensure the patient buys into the proposed treatment plan that the care team wants to provide the patient.

October et al. (2016) denoted a similar finding and underscored that good communication decreases conflict between the medical team and families as well as increased family and patient trust and satisfaction with care. P4 stated, "We have been looking at asking the patient what we can do better for you." According to Castro et al. (2016), several initiatives healthcare organizations have implemented are patient participation to help improve quality of care, increase patient safety, and increase patient satisfaction. To help meet this challenge, all of the participants noted their use of morning huddles to address the needs of patients and set goals for the patient and team members. Ghorob and Bodenheimer (2015) confirmed that high performing facilities that employ huddles are associated with improved care, better patient experience, and considerable staff satisfaction. P4 noted the executive team also conducts a daily huddle to synchronize activities, identify gaps, and fill those gaps to ensure they are meeting the needs of their patients.

P1 explained the benefits of using huddles within the PCMH model to ensure the patient's needs are communicated and synchronized among the care team, the patient, and family. P1 stated,

The patient-centered medical home model has been around for a while having the patient receive treatment for their recovery/aliment at home by a care team that communicates to each other and the patient regarding the management of services and care.

P1 noted that PCMH was instrumental for reducing cost and keeping the patient at the center of that care, making sure they buy into their care. According to Ehrenberg et al.

(2016), healthcare leaders who support patient-centeredness in their delivery of care models have shown increased functional capacity and decreases in the mortality rate of elderly patients. Shi et al. (2017) surmised that PCMH has been a critical model for servicing low-income, racial, and ethnic minority patients in medically underserved and rural areas. P6 noted that H6 routinely incorporates PCMH as a strategy to step down the patient's level of care from an inpatient acute care setting to a home healthcare setting. P6 added, "We utilize PCMH to help reduce the cost of patient's healthcare, emergency department visits, and readmission rates." P3 noted H3 aims to focus their teams, led by providers along with paraprofessionals and nurses to engage routinely with their patients. P3 further stated, "H3 leadership will often employ their paraprofessionals and nurses to the extent of their license so that they can meet the patient's needs potentially without even engaging the provider with routine management." Participants 1, 2, and 4 noted the value of PCMH as a model for keeping patient-centered, enhancing quality improvement processes, and supporting the implementation of preventive care programs. According to Bilello et al. (2018), the PCC model advocates within a PCMH setting that the patient remains central to their care delivery, which is essential for ensuring high-quality care and better patient outcomes.

Building well-trained staffs, supporting good communications among care teams and patients, communicating patient's concerns through huddles, and leveraging PCMH to improve patient access and value are components of the patient-centered theory and value-centered healthcare model. The findings align with the conceptual framework of the patient-centered theory and a value-centered healthcare model. The participants

explained the importance of implementing a PCC model within a system that emphasized value-based health services, cost reduction, and value for the patient. This study demonstrated (a) communication, (b) access to care, (c) continuity of care, (d) comprehensiveness, (e) coordination and communication, (f) cultural competency, (g) safety, (h) family and person focus; and (i) educating the patient and family contributed to PCC matters (Chumbler, Otani, Desai, Herrmann, & Kurz, 2016; Lim & Kurniasanti, 2015). Additionally, all six participants discussed and concurred on the value of implementing a PCC model through their perceptions based on the primary research question. The participants' responses, documents, literature review, and current research provided information that helped to identify the key theme PCC matters.

# Theme 2: Leadership Strategies

P3 stated, "A key leadership strategy H3 staff has implemented in support of patient-centered strategies is to make the organization fit the patient flow." According to DiGioia Lorenz, Greenhouse, Bertoty, & Rocks (2010), a critical leadership step in improving patient-centeredness is care flow mapping that leadership can use to understand patients' desires through the lens of the patient and family. P4 noted H4's management uses continuous quality improvement strategies to address areas in which their performance fails to meet the patient's needs. The participant's statement aligned with the evidence presented by Henke et al. (2018) that healthcare leadership and stakeholders are investing in infrastructure and technology to improve patient flow, share transfer information and collaborate across care settings to meet patients' needs and quality of care based on clinical best practices.

P3 stated, "H3 leadership continuously looks to leveraging their staff, for example, case managers to take on complex cases to reduce the volume and care for those individuals categorized as chronic high utilize patient (CHUP) that are considered high prescribers." Participants 1, 6, 3, and 4 noted their facilities' leaders rely of various data to measure the effectiveness their staffs are meeting PCC goals and value. P1 stated, "H1 leaders consistently review emergency department (ED) trends to determine if patients are seeking routine care at ED's vs. seeking service with their primary care team." P6, noted H6 leadership considers multiple key performance indicators like length of stay, readmissions rates, percentage of our patients discharged to community, and their function independent measure scores, to develop strategies to improve PCC, quality, and cost reductions. P6 further noted H6 leadership utilizes benchmarks data to compare their performance against their competition to develop strategies to improve areas they are underperforming. Participants 6, 5, and 2, noted a leadership strategy used within their organizations focuses on retaining and recruiting experience and trained labor. All participants expressed challenges in retaining nurses and other staffs to meet the needs of their patients. P4 noted H4's leadership is beginning to employ strategies that address changing the culture among teams and management to improve communication to improve patient-centered delivery of care. P4 added, "H4 leadership is leveraging continuous quality improvement committees (CQIC) to improve training sessions by communicating daily email messaging delivered periodically throughout the day to keep staff abreast of trends and safety concerns." P6 noted H6's board of directors are sharing data gathered from their quality improvement committee or Council with management to

ensure actions implemented reflex the concerns of patients and directors who participate in those committees. This finding is in alignment with Pomey et al. (2015) who concluded that healthcare leaders are increasingly integrating patients as members of their organization's continuous quality improvement committees to aid with improving PCC by incorporating their experiences to redesign health and healthcare services.

Healthcare leaders are employing strategies to improve patients-centered care to address better patient's needs, values, and concerns through increase care practices garnered through data that align with the conceptual framework value-centered healthcare model and patient-centeredness theory. All six participants elaborated their use of data collected through various modalities that include patient flow mapping, continuous quality improvement committees, and benchmarking to improve the continuum of care and develop strategies to reduce patient's cost. The data derived from semistructured interviews, documentation collected, and the literature view directly correlate to the importance of effective leadership strategies. Additionally, the participants' leadership strategy aligns with complex adaptive systems that are ever-changing, reactive, proactive, and distinctive within a natural environment correlates with the conceptual framework for this study.

#### **Theme 3: Cost Reduction Strategies**

All participants agreed that lowering the cost of care was critical to their success as healthcare managers. Honaganahalli, Melissa-Gateley, and Neufeld (2017) summarized those healthcare organizations that support PCC could reduce patient's short-term and long-term morbidity, that in turn, positively impacts lower long-term

healthcare costs. According to Huang (2016), patient access and long waits continue to impact staff productivity, quality, and increase healthcare cost. P1 noted maximizing patient access, and scheduling have reduced cost for H1. P1 indicated even across specialties; reduced cost occurred because of improved communications between patients and case management. Bard et al. (2017) stated healthcare manager's current challenges to provide quality care while reducing cost increases in complexity when leadership must also consider competition, problematic scheduling, and an elderly population with recurring chronic illnesses. Participants 1, 2, 4, and 6 noted their facilities leadership supports primary and post-acute care throughout their hospital to coordinate on behalf of the patient to provide the best care, reduce duplication of services, and alleviate unnecessary cost to the patient. P2 stated, "Leadership goals at H2 are to leverage the right labor based on the patient's needs." P2 further noted, "Paraprofessionals perform treatments under the directions of the provider. Hence, you want your more expensive labor (physicians, etc.) doing things that only they can do like assessment and complex treatment. All follow-up treatment, routine activities, you want to make sure your cheaper labor pool (para-professionals, nurses, etc.) conduct those tasks, which is a cost-effective approach to treating patients."

Participants 3, 4, and 6 noted educating their patients on the cost of pursuing care from their primary care team versus seeking care at the emergency room is a strategy their facilities senior leadership are employing to help reduce patient's cost. Cosgrove et al. (2013) denoted similar findings that healthcare leaders should use patient-centered communication to aid with achieving faster recovery, improved clinical outcomes, better

care experience, and fewer diagnostic tests and referrals. Pourat et al. (2015) noted the cost of care decreased and the continuity of patient's care increase when patients sought care with their primary care provider instead of visits to emergency rooms.

Another strategy all participants noted was the use of Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAHPS) to measure consumer's satisfaction. Farley et al. (2014) indicated a hospitals performance is one of the most critical measures for obtaining the CMS financial incentives as stated in the PPACA (P.L. 111-148, Section 3001) that authorized the establishment of the Hospital Value-Based Purchasing Program. According to Chumbler et al. (2016), patients' satisfaction correlates with the frequent use of health services and influences both patient compliance and the continuity of care. P2 stated, "Our leadership receive HCAHPS Surveys on a week to week basis from Press Ganey Associates, an HCAHPS administrator. HCAHPS surveys give us feedback via a scoring process based on percentages that provides this facility a ranking in comparison to the other healthcare facilities." P1 noted H1 leadership makes ever attempt to meet their patients' needs by reviewing HCAHPS, compliance officer feedback, and feedback from Joint Commission surveys. All participants indicated that HCAHPS surveys are effective tools management uses to develop strategies necessary to focus resources on improve PCC that support optimize future payments.

According to Elf et al. (2017), an essential criterion for value-based healthcare is an organizations strategy to transition towards reimbursement for patient's complete care cycle as oppose to a single care provider. P2 and P3 noted their leadership must ensure the medical staff present are capable of supporting all patients seeking care. This issue

continues to be a problem as efficiency of care and crowding affect disproportionately patient satisfaction that, in turn, negatively influences HCAHPS surveys (Farley et al., 2014). P6 stated, "Maintaining a sufficient nursing staff is a big challenge for many organizations that can compromise safety and care for patients." P6 noted that H6's human resources department have developed programs focus on boosting employee morale, training as well as external recruitment strategies to attract more nurses to their hospital.

Moreover, healthcare managers that employ and recruit well-trained staff sufficiently to meet the patient population they serve will improve their opportunities to secure positive HCAHPS surveys. Crilly et al. (2015) indicated that crowding has negatively impact patient delivery of quality care in the areas of safety, timeliness, patient-centeredness, efficiency, effectiveness, and equity. Schreyer and Martin (2017) noted crowding has influenced staff stress, retention, prolonged inpatient lengthen of stay, and increased cost across the patient's continuum of care.

Healthcare leaders are employing cost reduction strategies that expand on the conceptual framework of PCC and the value-centered healthcare model by reviewing HCAHPS and Joint Commission surveys, leveraging labor based on patient needs, and educating patients to utilize their primary care team versus seeking treatment through an emergency room. All six participant concurred that HCAHPS surveys are useful tool that improve PCC and optimize future payments that correlates with the conceptual framework of PCC and the value-centered healthcare model. In analyzing the opened-sourced reported performance information retrieved from all participants' facilities and

the literature review, cost reduction strategies seemed to be an accurate assessment of what healthcare leaders are implementing to accomplish value-centered healthcare. Korenstein et al. (2016) expanded on the conceptual framework of value-centered healthcare by noting that value equates to the balance between care quality (in terms of patient satisfaction and health outcomes) and costs, though specific delineations as defined by various healthcare organizations business models.

## **Theme 4: Maximizing Community Healthcare Services**

Many healthcare facilities have not accounted for the total cost patients sustain related to the price for quality (Lee et al., 2016). According to Bernhardt et al. (2016), the expenses related to many elderly patients' care includes substantial medical, pharmaceutical, and surgical services, adapted housing, and extensive support from family and other community based supportive services makes 65 years old and older the most expensive phase of life for most Americans. A strategy many hospitals that support rural and under-deserved populations have used are collaborations with community-based healthcare centers. The ACA implemented the extension of health centers as a vital part of its strategy for ensuring that rural, under-deserved populations, for example, elderly and low-income, would gain access to quality healthcare (Shin et al., 2015). P5 noted one of H5 goals is to return patients identified from rural communities with resources established through healthcare centers to ensure a continuum of care. P6 stated, "Our job is to make sure the patient continues to get care and are progressing fast enough that they can live independently in their community and home performing daily living activities."

According to Shi et al. (2017), an emphasis on using healthcare centers has improved accessible, cost-effective, and high-quality primary care and has helped to reduce health disparities. P1 stated, "We collaborates with the patient's community healthcare center to provide a continuum of care which is another way the community has embraced, providing care not just for the elderly, but to the entire population of patients that otherwise would not get their care and would be an emergency room." Community healthcare centers have been a crucial component of the U.S. safety net system. According Nguyen, Makam, and Halm (2016), the safety-net system is a mix of public hospitals, clinics, community health centers, and other healthcare organizations distinguished by their shared mission to provide care to individuals regardless if the patient uses Medicaid, Medicare, private insurance, or no ability to pay for healthcare. P2 noted, "Providing quality healthcare in the community of the patient is value-added because when a patient does not like the care at one hospital vs. the next, they will choose to seek care in another community if they feel the services for certain care is of a lesser quality in their healthcare service area." Leveraging community collaboration to meet the needs of patients can help to establish stability in their lives and improve their health and quality of life as well as considerably reduce cost (McCulloch, 2017).

Other strategy healthcare leaders are using to deliver and promote the continuum of healthcare within the community for patients is telehealth. Neville (2018) defined telehealth as a collection of electronic communication methods used to provide enhanced patient care and education for the patient and family. According to Doarn (2016), telehealth has increased access to healthcare for patients living in remote and underserved

areas. P1 stated, "Our organization and several other organizations in the community are going to clinical video telehealth where the patient receives care in their home, and the providers and or specialists can remain at the Medical Center to treat the patient. Participants 2, 3, 4, and 5 discussed similar strategies for utilizing telehealth to improve outcomes and patient access to care to reduce emergency room visits, chronic diseases, post-acute care, and readmission rates from long term care. Participants 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 acknowledged telehealth has improved patient access to high-quality healthcare particular when great distances separate the provider and patient. P1 noted that PCC remains a critical function within telehealth. P1 stated, "If the patient agrees, we will set them up with home telehealth and follow and track the patient with a registered nurse and other members of the patient's care team for post-acute care." According to Neville (2018), telehealth is changing the daily delivery of care by reducing outpatient visits, increasing medical staff capacity to focus on diagnosing and treating patients sooner, considerably reducing trauma center cost, and closing the spatial distance for patient's access to quality healthcare who reside in rural areas.

By using the conceptual framework for this study, both patient-centeredness and value-centered healthcare models serve to recognize the need for healthcare managers to implement strategies that support and maximize community healthcare organizations. All six participants elaborated their organizations are using telehealth to help meet the needs of patients in the most restrictive environment which correlates with the conceptual framework of value-based healthcare by using innovations that support the elements of PCC: access, continuity, comprehensiveness, coordination and communication, cultural,

and person focused. The semistructured interview process and organization documents further confirmed valued-based care in the theme maximizing community healthcare services. The documentation collected outlining the strategy of collaborating with community-based healthcare centers used by healthcare leaders in their organization, supported the importance of PCC strategies. The findings of this study support the conceptual framework that healthcare managers are embracing PCC and a value-based healthcare model based on their organizations strategies to reduce patient cost by serving patients in their community as authorized through the ACA.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings of this study illuminate patient-centered strategies healthcare managers can use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. The four themes that emerged from the data analysis were PCC matters, management leadership strategies, control methods for monitoring cost, and maximizing community healthcare services. While this research offers meaningful information for healthcare managers that support a rural population, these strategies are applicable across all populations. According to Shin et al. (2015), the largest population of low-income patients receiving healthcare from federally-funded community centers are working adults at 61% and children at 32%, and elderly adults at 7%. However, the 7% served are costing the most to treat based on their individual needs. An aging population of people living with chronic illnesses today have increased the demand for complex care and social services and add to rising healthcare cost (Williams-Roberts, Abonyi, & Kryzanowski, 2018). Healthcare managers can apply the findings of this

research to their business practices of managing and leading healthcare facilities, continuous process improvement teams, and stakeholders to enhance their implementation of PCC to meet the needs of patients, their families, and staffs. The findings of this study could assist healthcare managers to develop other processes to meet the needs of patients that live in a rural area by combining patient's HCAHPS surveys and community healthcare. The findings show that healthcare leaders are utilizing various strategies to help reduce elderly patient cost without diminishing the quality of a patient care. The results support the need for managers to continue developing strategies that meet the various desires of patients. The findings of this study advocate the importance of communication between the patient, family, and care team. In addition, the lines of communication between healthcare manager, healthcare providers, and other stakeholders should maximize feedback received from patient's surveys and turned into actionable strategic objectives that help to meet the needs of patients. The results from this study could help improve patient safety and care coordination, which the CMS track to measure the delivery of quality healthcare service. CMS reports patients discharged to post-acute care facilities have seen a reduction in readmission rates based on improve communication, medication safety, innovated care planning, and improve emphases in training staff at medical facilities that treat Medicare and Medicaid patients (Kripalani, Theobald, Anctil, & Vasilevskis, 2014). The results from this study may enable healthcare managers to consider keeping the patient and integral member of the patient's treatment and proactively implementing measures to improve patient satisfaction. Also, the results support acknowledging that the voice of the patient is credible and that

promoting health literacy through multiple mediums for patients, caregivers, and family members supports strategies to reduce out of pocket medical cost.

# **Implications for Social Change**

Healthcare managers with the responsibility to develop strategies that help reduce the cost of patient healthcare while ensuring the quality of care remains are value added in today's healthcare industry. According to Bauer et al. (2014), healthcare leaders are accountable for the delivery of care and the payment models that incentivize providers for delivering quality care and achieving good metric outcomes. Conversely, experienced healthcare leaders that implement strategies to improve healthcare efficiencies and the delivery of PCC are critical within a modern healthcare environment. Similarly, Sfantou et al. (2017) stated PCC matters when quality of care is a vital component for attaining superior productivity within a healthcare facility for patients.

The implications for positive social change for this study embrace the importance of including the patient, the patient's family, and caregiver among the critical stakeholders in developing the patient's treatment plan. Another positive social change from this study may benefit the development of leadership strategies that support care team and physicians actively engaging their patients to participate in their treatment planning. Educating the patient, their family, and caregiver on the importance of their participation in their care through correspondence when entering a healthcare facility may improve HCAHPS surveys. According to Delany (2018), Australia has seen a great deal of success actively engaging patients through correspondence on the standards of

PCC that they can expect from their care team, which has enhanced the safety and quality of care provided.

Other implications for positive social change are the development of cost reduction strategies to improve use of resources through improved communication between the patient, care team, and other ancillary support staff. Conversely, healthcare facility leaders that fail to address the amount of waste in their facilities will eventually find their bottom-line disappear. According to JAMA, researchers have determined that healthcare spending accounts for 20 percent of the U.S gross domestic product with 2.5 percent accounting for as waste (Carroll, 2017).

#### **Recommendations for Action**

I recommend several actions for all healthcare managers charged with delivering and managing healthcare regardless of the demographics being service. Novice and experienced healthcare leaders should embrace lifelong learning, as such; the recommendations from this study apply to promoting PCC strategies in all healthcare environments. The key themes expressed in this study included: (a) PCC matters, (b) management leadership strategies, (c) control methods for monitoring cost, and (d) maximizing community healthcare services. Addressing the themes present opportunities for healthcare leaders and those charged with developing policies to continue promoting the importance of patient-centeredness when structuring cost models and strategies that support value-based incentive payments.

Conversely, this will shape increase discussion for the delivery of healthcare as healthcare leaders continue to look within their ranks to structure strategies and staffs to

meet the needs of patients, families, caregivers, and stakeholder objectives. Action from this study may encourage an increase in dialogue between C-suite leaders and middle management where staffs are providing services to patients. According to Vaughn et al. (2014), C-suite leaders in higher-performing hospitals have shown to be more effective at communicating and modeling their vision of quality care by fashioning a culture that supports an expectation that staff and leadership will work across traditional boundaries to improve quality. Further, according to several participant's feedback, middle managers would embrace more interface with C-suite leaders where the continuum of care takes place. The implementation of successful leadership strategies could contribute to a healthcare facility by improving C-suite and management commitment to monitor performance based on predetermine patient-centered goals that ensures shared feedback and accountability to key stakeholders, staff, and the community they serve.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

The subject matter of exploring patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care merits further research given the lack of studies that focus on elderly patient care. Below are three limitations to this study that may provide transparency for future research.

The analysis for this study only included hospitals that served a large
population of rural patients. This focus was justified to get an account of
patients receiving care from acute care facilities; however, this excluded

- patient care centers and other community-based treatment centers that serve elderly patents.
- 2. A second limitation, beyond the design of this study, was the lack of additional measures and methods in the evaluation set; these methods include survey instruments, PCC meta-measures, patient outcomes, quality measures, participant observation, and process evaluation. The results of this study may have varied if the researcher examined the problem using all the methods above to develop a comprehensive methodology that support understanding of how healthcare managers apply PCC in different medical locations.
- 3. Third, all the participants were non-medical degreed healthcare managers with multiple years of experience leading teams and staffs, which may limit the generalizability of the findings.

## Reflections

As a student and facilitator of healthcare policies and strategy development, I was knowledgeable of the various models employed by healthcare administrator. I took every effort to minimize bias throughout this research process by remaining neutral and objective during the interview and secondary data research process. Throughout the interview process, I was able to gain a greater understanding of the challenges healthcare managers' experience in their employment of patient-centered strategies to provide the highest quality of care while keeping an eye on the costs associated with the delivery of care. I had no prior knowledge of or relationship with the participants; henceforth, the task of gathering participants willing to participate in this study was not easy. However,

the participants selected were experts based on their years of experiences and knowledge of PCC and openness to support my research. Each participant felt comfortable with my interview techniques, questions presented, and length of time spent during their interview session. I gave all participants a chance to add or change their interview transcription to ensure reliability and validity throughout the interview and data collection process. Using triangulation, secondary data, literature reviews, and member-checking immensely aided in developing the findings presented for this study.

#### Conclusion

The focus of this study from its conception has been to explore what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patient healthcare without reducing the quality of patient care. According to Norman (2019), fifty-five percent of Americans consider the affordability of healthcare the number one concern for the past five Gallup listing of problems facing the United States.

Notwithstanding, healthcare spending in the US accounts for 18% of the gross domestic product, which continues to strain the federal, state, and individual budgets (Johnson et al., 2015). Because healthcare leaders are a significant driver for a healthcare facilities financial success, they must demonstrate an ability to develop and monitor cost-reducing strategies that promote CMS value-based incentives, while remaining vigilant of what strategies work and those processes to improve those strategies considered ineffective.

According to Elwyn et al. (2014), healthcare managers must institute PCC at its core values and continuously monitor and assess the outcomes of PCC to ensure the care team collaborates with the patient in their delivery of care.

The findings from this case study showed that healthcare managers are using multiple strategies to reduce patient cost while ensured their patients receive quality PCC. Healthcare managers who exercise excellent communication skills with providers, staff, and patients are seeing improved CMS surveys that in turn are increasing value-based incentive payments for their healthcare facility. Several areas all participants have seen improvements based on communication among their stakeholders are improve safety outcomes, enhanced patient experiences, a reduction in waste as determine through continuous improvement committees, and greater patient-care team satisfaction.

Moreover, the findings of this study provide strategies managers have found effective to deliver quality cost-effective PCC as well as an opportunity for others to look within their organizations to assess the viability to implement some of the strategies identified in this study.

I recommend healthcare leaders continue to build relationships with other community-based facilities in their communities. The least amount of risk a large hospital facility could consider is an affiliation with a community partner. As the uncertainty of healthcare delivery and the complexities of adjusting payment models that support patient-centeredness, out of pocket cost containment and reduction, and a continuum of quality care remains a concern for Americans, healthcare leaders may benefit their organizations footprint and bottom line through community based strategic partnerships and telehealth.

## References

- Abdus, S., Mistry, K. B., & Selden, T. M. (2015). Racial and ethnic disparities in services and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, S668-S675. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302892
- Adepoju, O. E., Preston, M. A., & Gonzales, G. (2015). Health care disparities in the post–Affordable Care Act era. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, S665-S667. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302611
- Agency for Health Care Research and Quality. (2017). *Patient centered medical home* resource center. Retrieved from http://www.pcmh.ahrq.gov
- Ali, N., & May, S. (2017). A qualitative study into Egyptian patients' satisfaction with physiotherapy management of low back pain. *Physiotherapy Research International*, 22(2), 1-25. doi:10.1002/pri.1647
- Allison, J. (2015). Interview with Joel T. Allison, FACHE, CEO of Baylor Scott & White Health. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 60, 81-85. Retrieved from http://www.journals.lww.com
- Alongi, J. (2015). A case study examination of structure and function in a state health department chronic disease unit. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(S2), e15-e22. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302354
- Altman, D., & Frist, W. H. (2015). Medicare and Medicaid at 50 years: Perspectives of beneficiaries, health care professionals and institutions, and policy makers. *JAMA*, 314, 384-395. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.7811

- Aoughsten, J., Johnson, S., Kuruvilla, M., & Bionat, S. (2015). The effect of the Affordable Care Act on Medicare: Opportunities for advanced practice nursing.

  Nurse Leader, 13(3), 49-53. doi:10.1016/j.mnl.2014.07.018
- Anderson, C. (2015, November 05). Patient-centered care: A winning proposition for all. *Leadership*. Retrieved from http://www.hfma.org/Leadership
- Andrulis, D. P., Siddiqui, N. J., Reddy, S., Jahnke, L. R., & Cooper, M. R. (2015). *Safety-net hospital systems transformation in the era of health care reform*. Retrieved from the Texas Health Institute website: https://www.texashealthinstitute.org
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

  Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*. 5, 272-281. Retrieved from http://repository.udsm.ac.tz:8080
- Antwi, S. K., & Hamza, K. (2015). Qualitative and quantitative research paradigms in business research: A philosophical reflection. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 7, 217-225. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/
- Baicker, K., & Robbins, J. A. (2015). Medicare payments and system-level health-care use: The spillover effects of Medicare managed care. *American Journal of Health Economics*, 1, 399-431. doi:10.1162/AJHE\_a\_00024
- Balbale, S. N., Turcios, S., & LaVela, S. L. (2015). Health care employee perceptions of patient-centered care. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 417-425.doi:10.1177/1049732314553011

- Balyer, A., Karatas, H., & Alci, B. (2015). School principals' roles in establishing collaborative professional learning communities at schools. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197, 1340-1347. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.387
- Bard, J. F., Shu, Z., Morrice, D. J., Wang, D. E., Poursani, R., & Leykum, L. (2016).

  Improving patient flow at a family health clinic. *Health Care Management Science*, 19, 170-191. doi:10.1007/s10729-014-9294-y
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: Perceptual foundations.

  International Journal of Market Research, 57, 837-854. doi:10.2501/ijmr-2015-070
- Baroudi, B., Chileshe, N., Hosseini, M. R., Zuo, J., & Baroudi, B. (2015). Adopting global virtual engineering teams in AEC Projects: A qualitative meta-analysis of innovation diffusion studies. *Construction Innovation*, 15, 151-179. doi:10.1108/CI-12-2013-0058
- Bartels, S. J., Gill, L., & Naslund, J. A. (2015). The Affordable Care Act, accountable care organizations, and mental health care for older adults: Implications and opportunities. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 23, 304-319.

  doi:10.1097/HRP.00000000000000000
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Report*, 19, 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Baskerville, R. L., & Myers, M. D. (2015). Design ethnography in information systems. *Information Systems Journal*, 25, 23-46. doi:10.1111/isj.12055

- Batalden, M., Batalden, P., Margolis, P., Seid, M., Armstrong, G., Opipari-Arrigan, L., & Hartung, H. (2016). Coproduction of healthcare service. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25, 509-517. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004315
- Bath, J., & Wakerman, J. (2015). Impact of community participation in primary health care: What is the evidence? *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 21(1), 2-8. doi:10.1071/PY12164
- Bauer, A. M., Thielke, S. M., Katon, W., Unützer, J., & Areán, P. (2014). Aligning health information technologies with effective service delivery models to improve chronic disease care. *Preventive Medicine*, *66*, 167-172. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.06.017
- Belmonte, K., & Opotow, S. (2017). Archivists on archives and social justice. *Qualitative*\*Psychology, 4, 58-72. doi:10.1037/qup0000055
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *Nursing Plus Open*, 2(1), 8-14. doi:10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Bernabeo, E., & Holmboe, E. S. (2013). Patients, providers, and systems need to acquire a specific set of competencies to achieve truly patient-centered care. *Health Affairs*, *32*, 250-258. doi:0.1377/hlthaff.2012.1120
- Bernhardt, A. K., Lynn, J., Berger, G., Lee, J. A., Reuter, K., Davanzo, J., . . . Dobson, A. (2016). Making it safe to grow old: A financial simulation model for launching MediCaring communities for frail elderly Medicare beneficiaries. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 94, 597-625. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12199

- Berssaneti, F. T., & Carvalho, M. M. (2015). Identification of variables that impact project success in Brazilian companies. *International Journal of Project*Management, 33, 638-649. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.07.002
- Berwick, D., Feeley, D., & Loehrer, S. (2015). Change from the inside out health care leaders taking the helm. *JAMA*, *313*, 1707-1708. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.2830
- Bhavnani, S. P., Parakh, K., Atreja, A., Druz, R., Graham, G. N., Hayek, S. S., . . . Shah, B. R. (2017). 2017 Roadmap for innovation—ACC health policy statement on healthcare transformation in the era of digital health, big data, and precision health: A report of the American College of Cardiology Task Force on health policy statements and systems of care. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 70, 2696-2718. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.018
- Bilello, L. A., Hall, A., Harman, J., Scuderi, C., Shah, N., Mills, J. C., & Samuels, S. (2018). Key attributes of patient centered medical homes associated with patient activation of diabetes patients. *BMC Family Practice*, *19*(1), 1-8. doi:10.1186/s12875-017-0704-3
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/104973231665487
- Bishop, S. (2014). What we got (and what might have been): A distinctly American approach. In H. Selker & J. Wasser (Eds.), *The Affordable Care Act as a National Experiment* (pp. 27-35). New York, NY: Springer.

- Bishop, A. C., & Macdonald, M. (2017). Patient involvement in patient safety: A qualitative study of nursing staff and patient perceptions. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *13*, 82-87. doi:10.1097/PTS.0000000000000123
- Blaum, C., Tinetti, M., Rich, M. W., Hoy, L., Hoy, S., Esterson, J., & Ferris, R. (2017). *A research agenda to support patient priorities care for adults with multiple chronic conditions*. [White paper]. Retrieved from https://www.pcori.org
- Blumenthal, D., Abrams, M., & Nuzum, R. (2015). The Affordable Care Act at 5 years.

  \*New England Journal of Medicine, 372, 2451-2458.

  doi:10.1056/NEJMhpr1503614
- Blumenthal, D., Davis, K., & Guterman, S. (2015). Medicare at 50—Origins and evolution. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*, 479-486. doi:10.1056/NEJMhpr1411701
- Bosko, T., & Gulotta, B. (2016). Improving care across the continuum. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 61, 90-93. Retrieved from http://www.ache.com
- Bosko, T., & Koenig, T. (2016). Understanding value-based incentive models and using performance as a strategic advantage. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 61, 11-14. Retrieved from http://www.ache.com
- Bosko, T., & Hawkins, C. (2016). Evolving physician reimbursement structures: Moving the medical group to value-based success. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 61, 176-180. Retrieved from http://www.ache.com
- Bowen, M. E., Bhat, D., Fish, J., Moran, B., Howell-Stampley, T., Kirk, L., . . . Halm, E. A. (2017). Improving performance on preventive health quality measures using

- clinical decision support to capture care done elsewhere and patient exceptions.

  American Journal of Medical Quality, 2017(1), 1-9.

  doi:10.1177/1062860617732830
- Bradbury, H., & Lifvergren, S. (2016). Action research health care focus on patients, improve quality, drive down costs. *Health Care Management Forum* 29, 269-274. doi:10.1177/0840470416658905
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*, 900–908. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Bucknall, T. K., Hutchinson, A. M., Botti, M., McTier, L., Rawson, H., Hewitt, N. A., . . . Chaboyer, W. (2016). Engaging patients and families in communication across transitions of care: an integrative review protocol. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72, 1689-1700. doi:10.1111/jan.12953
- Burwell, S. M. (2015). Setting value-based payment goals-HHS efforts to improve U.S. health care. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*, 897-899. Retrieved from http://www.nejm.org
- Butler, A., Hall, H., & Copnell, B. (2016). A guide to writing a qualitative systematic review protocol to enhance evidence-based practice in nursing and health care.

  Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 13, 241-249. doi:10.1111/wvn.12134
- Byczkowski, T. L., Gillespie, G. L., Kennebeck, S. S., Fitzgerald, M. R., Downing, K. A., & Alessandrini, E. A. (2015). Family-centered pediatric emergency care:

- Framework for measuring what parents want and value. *Academic Pediatrics*, *16*, 327-335. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2015.08.011
- Cantiello, J., Kitsantas, P., Moncada, S., & Abdul, S. (2016). The evolution of quality improvement in healthcare: Patient-centered care and health information technology applications. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 5, 62-68. doi:10.5430/jha.v5n2p62
- Carroll, A. E. (2017). The high costs of unnecessary care the high costs of unnecessary care. *JAMA*, *318*, 1748-1749. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.16193
- Carter, D., & Baghurst, T. (2014). The influence of servant leadership on restaurant employee engagement. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 124, 453-464. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1882-0
- Castro, E. M., Van Regenmortel, T., Vanhaecht, K., Sermeus, W., & Van Hecke, A. (2016). Patient empowerment, patient participation and patient-centeredness in hospital care: A concept analysis based on a literature review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 99, 1923-1939. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.026
- Chandra, A., Crane, S. J., Tung, E. E., Hanson, G. J., North, F., Cha, S. S., & Takahashi,
  P. Y. (2015). Patient-reported geriatric symptoms as risk factors for
  hospitalization and emergency department visits. *Aging and Disease*, 6, 188–195.
  doi:10.14336/AD.2014.0706
- Chang, C.-S., Chen, S.-Y., & Lan, Y.-T. (2013). Service quality, trust, and patient satisfaction in interpersonal-based medical service encounters. *BMC Health Services Research*, *13*, 22-33. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-22

- Chellan, J., & Sibiya, M. N. (2018). Nursing staff perceptions regarding the clinical audit tool used for relicensing inspections within eThekwini private hospitals in South Africa. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 31, 502-519. doi:10.1108/IJHCQA-12-2017-0242
- Cheng, A. B. (2016). Expansion of employee wellness programs under PPACA creates additional barriers to healthcare insurance for individuals with disabilities.

  \*\*Journal of Law and Health (Online), 29, 192-220. Retrieved from http://www.heinonline.org
- Chumbler, N. R., Otani, K., Desai, S. P., Herrmann, P. A., & Kurz, R. S. (2016).

  Hospitalized older adults' patient satisfaction: Inpatient care experiences. *SAGE Open*, 6(2), 1-7. doi:10.1177/2158244016645639
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Coleman, K. J., Magnan, S., Neely, C., Solberg, L., Beck, A., Trevis, J., . . . Williams, S. (2017). The COMPASS initiative: Description of a nationwide collaborative approach to the care of patients with depression and diabetes and/or cardiovascular disease. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 44, 69-76. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2016.05.007
- Coleman, K., Wagner, E., Schaefer, J., & Reid, R. (2016). Redefining primary care for the 21st century. *Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality*, 16(20), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.ahrq.gov

- Condon, D. M., Wilt, J., Cohen, C. A., Revelle, W., Hegarty, M., & Uttal, D. H. (2015).

  Sense of direction: General factor saturation and associations with the Big-Five traits. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 86, 38-43.

  doi:10.1016/j.paid.2015.05.023
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding research. Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 25, 435-436. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net
- Conrad, D., & Alfredson, K. (2016). Expanding the primary care patient-centered medical home through new roles for registered nurses. *Journal of Interprofessional Education & Practice*, 5, 59-64. doi:10.1016/j.xjep.2016.03.009
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Cosgrove, D. M., Fisher, M., Gabow, P., Gottlieb, G., Halvorson, G. C., James, B. C., . . . Toussaint, J. S. (2013). Ten strategies to lower costs, improve quality, and engage patients: The view from leading health system CEOs. *Health Affairs*, *32*, 321-327. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1074
- Cox, C. E., White, D. B., & Abernethy, A. P. (2014). A universal decision support system. Addressing the decision-making needs of patients, families, and clinicians in the setting of critical illness. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 190, 366-373. doi:10.1164/rccm.201404-0728CP
- Cramm, J. M., & Nieboer, A. P. (2016). Is "disease management" the answer to our problems? No! Population health management and (disease) prevention require

- "management of overall well-being." *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*, 1-6. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1765-z
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78-91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Crisp, R. (2018). Rogers and Goldstein redux: The actualizing person responding to trauma and loss. *Person-Centered & Experiential Psychotherapies*, *17*, 70-85. doi:10.1080/14779757.2018.1431563
- Crocker, T., Besterman-Dahan, K., Himmelgreen, D., Castañeda, H., Gwede, C. K., & Kumar, N. (2014). Use of semistructured interviews to explore competing demands in a prostate cancer prevention intervention clinical trial (PCPICT). *The Qualitative Report*, *19*, 1-16. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu
- Cunningham, P. J. (2015). The share of people with high medical costs increased prior to implementation of the Affordable Care Act. (2015). *Health Affairs*, *34*, 117-124. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0216

- Das, A., Norton, E. C., Miller, D. C., Ryan, A. M., Birkmeyer, J. D., & Chen, L. M.
  (2016). Adding a spending metric to Medicare's value-based purchasing program rewarded low- quality hospitals. *Health Affairs*, 35, 898-906.
  doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1190
- David, G., Gunnarsson, C., Saynisch, P. A., Chawla, R., & Nigam, S. (2015). Do patient-centered medical homes reduce emergency department visits? *Health Services*\*Research\*, 50, 418-439. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12218
- Davis, M. M., Gebremariam, A., & Ayanian, J. Z. (2016). Changes in insurance coverage among hospitalized nonelderly adults after Medicaid expansion in Michigan. *JAMA*, 315, 2617-2618. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.6303
- Delaney, L. (2018). Patient-centred care as an approach to improving health care in Australia. *Collegian*, 25, 119-123. doi:10.1016/j.colegn.2017.02.005
- Delmatoff, J., & Lazarus, I. R. (2015). The most effective leadership style for the new landscape of health care. *Journal of Health Care Management*, *59*, 245-249.

  Retrieved from http://www.journals.lww.com
- Diebel, N. D. (2015). US health care system: We can do better. *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 212, 741-747. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2015.03.048
- DiGioia, A., III, Lorenz, H., Greenhouse, P. K., Bertoty, D. A., & Rocks, S. D. (2010). A patient-centered model to improve metrics without cost increase: Viewing all care

- through the eyes of patients and families. JONA: *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 40, 540-546. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181fc1
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521-528. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Doarn, C. R. (2016). Telehealth: A very useful tool that enables and improves patient access. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 29, 430-431. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2016.04.16016
- Doekhie, K. D., Buljac-Samardzic, M., Strating, M. M. H., & Paauwe, J. (2017). Who is on the primary care team? Professionals' perceptions of the conceptualization of teams and the underlying factors: a mixed-methods study. *BMC Family Practice*, 111, 1-34. doi:10.1186/s12875-017-0685-2
- Doherty, R. B. (2017). Fear and loathing on the campaign trail: What the election means for U.S. health care, and the health of American democracy. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*, *128*, 258–271. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Douthit, N., Kiv, S., Dwolatzky, T., & Biswas, S. (2015). Exposing some important barriers to health care access in the rural USA. *Public Health*, *129*, 611-620. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2015.04.001
- Draper, J. (2015). Ethnography: Principles, practice, and potential. *Nursing Standard:*Royal College of Nursing, 29(36), 36-41. doi:10.7748/ns.29.36.36.e8937

- Dunn, S. L., Arslanian-Engoren, C., DeKoekkoek, T., Jadack, R., & Scott, L. D. (2015).
  Secondary data analysis as an efficient and effective approach to nursing research.
  Western Journal of Nursing Research, 37, 1295-1307.
  doi:10.1177/0193945915570042
- Ehrenberg, A., Gustavsson, P., Wallin, L., Boström, A. M., & Rudman, A. (2016). New graduate nurses' developmental trajectories for capability beliefs concerning core competencies for healthcare professionals: A national cohort study on patient-centered care, teamwork, and evidence-based practice. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, *13*, 454-462. doi:10.1111/wvn.12178
- Elf, M., Flink, M., Nilsson, M., Tistad, M., von Koch, L., & Ytterberg, C. (2017). The case of value-based healthcare for people living with complex long-term conditions. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*, 24-29. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1957-6
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

  Qualitative content analysis. *SAGE Open, 4*(1), 1-10.

  doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Elwyn, G., Dehlendorf, C., Epstein, R. M., Marrin, K., White, J., & Frosch, D. L. (2014). Shared decision making and motivational interviewing: Achieving patient-centered care across the spectrum of health care problems. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 12, 270-275. doi:10.1370/afm.1615

- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Etkind, S. N., Daveson, B. A., Kwok, W., Witt, J., Bausewein, C., Higginson, I. J., & Murtagh, F. E. (2015). Capture, transfer, and feedback of patient-centered outcomes data in palliative care populations: Does it make a difference? A systematic review. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 49, 611-624. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014.07.010
- Ericson, K. M., & Kessler, J. B. (2016). The articulation of government policy: Health insurance mandates versus taxes. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 124, 43-54. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2015.09.021
- Falconi, A. M. (2017). Public and private coverage in the United States. In R. Riegelman (Eds.), *Navigating Health Insurance* (pp.13-26), Burlington, MA: Jones & Barlett LLC.
- Farley, H., Enguidanos, E. R., Coletti, C. M., Honigman, L., Mazzeo, A., Pinson, T. B., .
  . . Wiler, J. L. (2014). Patient satisfaction surveys and quality of care: An information paper. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 64, 351-357.
  doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2014.02.021
- Fayanju, O. M., Mayo, T. L., Spinks, T. E., Lee, S., Barcenas, C. H., Smith, B. D., ... & Walters, R. (2016). Value-based breast cancer care: A multidisciplinary approach for defining patient-centered outcomes. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, 23, 2385-2390. doi:10.1245/s10434-016-5184-5

- Foy, J. M. (2015). The medical home and integrated behavioral health. *Pediatrics*, 135, 930-931. doi:10.1542/peds.2015-0748
- Frank, L., Forsythe, L., Ellis, L., Schrandt, S., Sheridan, S., Gerson, J., . . . Daugherty, S. (2015). Conceptual and practical foundations of patient engagement in research at the patient-centered outcomes research institute. *Quality of Life Research*, 24, 1033-1041. doi:10.1007/s11136-014-0893-3
- Frankel, M., Johnson, M. M., & Polak, R. (2016). Congruence: The social contract between a client and therapist. *Person-Centered & Experiential Psychotherapies*, *15*, 156-174. doi:10.1080/14779757.2016.1182061
- Franzen, A. B. (2017). Patient or physician centered care?: Structural implications for clinical interactions and the overlooked patient. *Religions*, 8, 158-174. doi:10.3390/rel8080158
- French, A. M., Luo, X., & Bose, R. (2017). Toward a holistic understanding of continued use of social networking tourism: A mixed-methods approach. *Information & Management*, *54*, 802-813. doi:10.1016/j.im.2016.10.006
- French, K. E., Guzman, A. B., Rubio, A. C., Frenzel, J. C., & Feeley, T. W. (2016).

  Value based care and bundled payments: Anesthesia care costs for outpatient

- oncology surgery using time-driven activity-based costing. *Healthcare* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*), 4, 173–180. doi:10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.08.007
- Freund, T., Everett, C., Griffiths, P., Hudon, C., Naccarella, L., & Laurant, M. (2015).

  Skill mix, roles and remuneration in the primary care workforce: Who are the healthcare professionals in the primary care teams across the world? *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 727-743. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.11.014
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR
- Gaffney, A. (2015). The neoliberal turn in American health care. *International Journal of Health Services*, 45, 33-52. doi:10.2190/HS.45.1.d
- Gaffney, A., & McCormick, D. (2017). The Affordable Care Act: Implications for health-care equity. *Lancet*, 389, 1442-1452. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30786-9
- Galarraga, J. E., & Pines, J. M. (2016). Costs of ED episodes of care in the United States.

  \*American Journal of Emergency Medicine, 34, 357-365.\*

  doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2015.06.001
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772-1789. Retrieved from http://www.tqr.nova.edu
- Ghorob, A., & Bodenheimer, T. (2015). Building teams in primary care: A practical guide. *Families, Systems, & Health, 33*, 182–192. doi:10.1037/fsh0000120

- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

  Organizational Research Methods, 17, 118-137. doi:10.1177/1094428113518348
- Gilman, M., Hockenberry, J. M., Adams, E. K., Milstein, A. S., Wilson, I. B., & Becker, E. R. (2015). The financial effect of value-based purchasing and the hospital readmissions reduction program on safety-net hospitals in 2014: A cohort study financial effect of VBP and the HRRP on safety-net hospitals. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 163, 427-436. doi:10.7326/M14-2813
- Goldberg, A. E., & Allen, K. R. (2015). Communicating qualitative research: Some practical guideposts for scholars. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 3-22. doi:10.1111/jomf.12153
- Grabowski, L., & Miller, J. (2015). Business professional doctoral programs: Student motivations, educational process, and graduate career outcomes. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 257-279. Retrieved from http://www.ijds.org
- Gruber, J. (2017). Delivering public health insurance through private plan choice in the United States. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 31, 3-22. doi:10.1257/jep.31.4.3
- Haeder, S. F. Balancing adequacy and affordability?: Essential health benefits under the Affordable Care Act (2014). *Health Policy*, *118*, 285-291. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.09.014
- Hall, M. A., & Lord, R. (2014). Obamacare: What the Affordable Care Act means for patients and physicians. *British Medical Journal*, 349(7), 1-10.doi:10.1136/bmj.g5376

- Hamid, K. S., Nwachukwu, B. U., & Ellis, S. J. (2014). Competing in value-based health care. *Foot & Ankle International*, *35*, 519-528. doi:10.1177/1071100714524551
- Harwood, I. A., Gapp, R. P., & Stewart, H. J. (2015). Cross-check for completeness:

  Exploring a novel use of leximancer in a grounded theory study. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1029-1044. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu
- Hasselt, M., McCall, N., Keyes, V., Wensky, S. G., & Smith, K. W. (2015). Total cost of care lower among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries receiving care from patient-centered medical homes. *Health Services Research*, 50, 253-272. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12217
- Hawley, S. T., & Morris, A. M. (2017). Cultural challenges to engaging patients in shared decision making. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100, 18-24.doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.008
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94, 172-183. doi:10.1002/jcad.12074
- Heisler, M. (2017). Do patient-centered medical homes enhance patients' medication adherence? Findings on the next frontier in quality improvement. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 166, 146-147. doi:10.7326/M16-2397
- Heller, D. J., Hoffman, C., & Bindman, A. B. (2014). Supporting the needs of state health policy makers through university partnerships. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law*, 39, 667-677. doi:10.1215/03616878-2682641

- Henke, R. M., Karaca, Z., Moore, B., Cutler, E., Liu, H., Marder, W. D., & Wong, H. S. (2018). Impact of health system affiliation on hospital resource use intensity and quality of care. *Health Services Research*, *53*, 63-86. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12631
- Henry, P. (2015). Rigor in qualitative research: Promoting quality in social science research. *Research Journal of Recent Sciences*, *4*, 25-28. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net
- Hines, A. L., Barrett, M. L., Jiang, H. J., & Steiner, C. A. (2014). Conditions with the largest number of adult hospital readmissions by payer, 2011. *Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality*, 172(1), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov
- Hirose, M. (2016). Is patient safety sufficient in Japan? Differences in patient safety between Japan and the United States—Learning from the United States. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 5(6), 1-13. doi:10.5430/jha.v5n6p1
- Honaganahalli, D., Melissa Gateley, B., & Neufeld, E. (2017). Ambulatory team visits: A new model for quality, cost-effective care of complex patient cases? *Consultant*. 57, 8-10. Retrieved from https://www.consultant360.com
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher*, 22, 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307

- Hosseini, H. (2015). Aging and the rising costs of healthcare in the United States: Can there be a solution? *Ageing International*, 40, 229-247. doi:10.1007/s12126-014-9209-8
- Huang, Y. L. (2016). The development of patient scheduling groups for an effective appointment system. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 7, 43-58. doi:10.4338/ACI-2015-08-RA-0097
- Hudson, K. L., & Collins, F. S. (2015). Bringing the common rule into the 21st century.

  New England Journal of Medicine, 373, 2293-2296. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1512205
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9(1), 1-12. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Islam, N., Nadkarni, S. K., Zahn, D., Skillman, M., Kwon, S. C., & Trinh-Shevrin, C. (2015). Integrating community health workers within Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act implementation. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 21, 42–50. doi:10.1097/PHH.000000000000000004
- Javadi Pashaki, N., Mohammadi, F., Jafaraghaee, F., & Mehrdad, N. (2015). Factors influencing the successful aging of Iranian old adult women. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*. 17(7), 1-8. doi:10.5812/ircmj.22451v2
- Johnson, T. L., Brewer, D., Estacio, R., Vlasimsky, T., Durfee, M. J., Thompson, K. R., ... Batal, H. (2015). Augmenting predictive modeling tools with clinical insights for care coordination program design and implementation. *eGEMs*, 3(1), 1-20 doi:10.13063/2327-9214.1181

- Johnson, T. L., Rinehart, D. J., Durfee, J., Brewer, D., Batal, H., Blum, J., . . . Gabow, P. (2015). For many patients who use large amounts of health care services, the need is intense yet temporary. *Health Affairs*, *34*, 1312-1319. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.1186
- Johnston, K. L., Lawrence, S. M., Dodds, N. E., Yu, L., Daley, D. C., & Pilkonis, P. A. (2016). Evaluating PROMIS® instruments and methods for patient-centered outcomes research: Patient and provider voices in a substance use treatment setting. *Quality of Life Research*, 25, 615-624. doi:10.1007/s1113
- Joiner, K., & Lusch, R. (2016). Evolving to a new service-dominant logic for health care.

  Innovation and Entrepreneurship in Health, 201(6), 25-33.

  doi:10.2147/ieh.s93473
- Jun, E.-Y., & Oh, H. (2017). Patient needs and satisfaction with nursing care after day surgery based on a patient-centered care framework. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 26, 301-317. doi:10.1177/1054773816633656
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A.-M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72, 2954-2965. doi:10.1111/jan.13031
- Kalu, F. A. (2017). What makes qualitative research good research? An exploratory analysis of critical elements. *International Journal of Social Science*Research, 5(2), 43-56. doi:10.5296/ijssr.v5i2.10711

- Kamal, A. H., Kirkland, K. B., Meier, D. E., Morgan, T. S., Nelson, E. C., & Pantilat, S.
  Z. (2018). A person-centered, registry-based learning health system for palliative care: A path to coproducing better outcomes, experience, value, and science. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 21, S61-S67. doi:10.1089/jpm.2017.0354
- Kass, N. E., Taylor, H. A., Ali, J., Hallez, K., & Chaisson, L. (2015). A pilot study of simple interventions to improve informed consent in clinical research: Feasibility, approach, and results. *Clinical Trials*, 12, 54-66. doi:10.1177/1740774514560831
- Katerndahl, D., Wood, R., & Jaén, C. R. (2015). Complexity of ambulatory care across disciplines. *Health Care*, *3*, 89-96. doi:10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.02.002
- Kaur, M. (2016). Application of mixed method approach in public health research. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine: Official Publication of Indian Association of Preventive & Social Medicine*, 41, 93-97. doi:10.4103/0970-0218.173495
- Kern, F. G. (2018). The trials and tribulations of applied triangulation. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12, 166-181. doi:10.1177/1558689816651032
- Kim, S. D. (2017). *Of a healthy Constitution: Socialized medicine between the triumphs*of Social Security and Medicare (Master's thesis). Retrieved from

  http://www.elischolar.library.yale.edu/
- Koenig, L., Demiralp, B., Saavoss, J., & Zhang, Q. (2015). The role of long-term acute care hospitals in treating the critically ill and medically complex: An analysis of nonventilator patients. *Medical Care*, 53, 582-590. doi:10.1097/mlr.0000000000000382

- Kogan, A., Wilber, K., & Mosqueda, L. (2016). Moving toward implementation of person-centered care for older adults in community-based medical and social service settings: "You only get things done when working in concert with clients". *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64, e8-e14. doi:10.1111/jgs.13876
- Körner, M., Bütof, S., Müller, C., Zimmermann, L., Becker, S., & Bengel, J. (2016).

  Interprofessional teamwork and team interventions in chronic care: A systematic review. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 30(1), 15-28.

  doi:10.3109/13561820.2015.1051616
- Korenstein, D., Duan, K., Diaz, M. J., Ahn, R., & Keyhani, S. (2016). Do health care delivery system reforms improve value? The jury is still out. *Medical care*, *54*, 55-66. doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000000445
- Kripalani, S., Theobald, C. N., Anctil, B., & Vasilevskis, E. E. (2014). Reducing hospital readmission rates: Current strategies and future directions. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 65, 471-485. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-022613-090415
- Kronick, R. (2016). AHRQ's Role in improving quality, safety, and health system performance. *Public Health Reports*, *131*, 229-232. doi:10.1177/003335491613100205
- Krupic, F., Sayed-Noor, A. S., & Fatahi, N. (2017). The impact of knowledge and religion on organ donation as seen by immigrants in Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *31*, 687-694. doi:10.1111/scs.12379

- Lee, V. S., Kawamoto, K., Hess, R., Park, C., Young, J., Hunter, C., . . . Pendleton, R. C. (2016). Implementation of a value-driven outcomes program to identify high variability in clinical costs and outcomes and association with reduced cost and improved quality. *JAMA*, *316*, 1061-1072. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.12226
- Lerner, C. F., & Klitzner, T. S. (2017). The medical home at 50: Are children with medical complexity the key to proving its value? *Academic Pediatrics*, 17, 581-588. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2017.04.010
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *4*, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lewin, S., Glenton, C., Munthe-Kaas, H., Carlsen, B., Colvin, C. J., Gülmezoglu, M., . . . Rashidian, A. (2015). Using qualitative evidence in decision making for health and social interventions: An approach to assess confidence in findings from qualitative evidence syntheses (GRADE-CERQual). *PLoS Medicine*, *12*(10), 1-19. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001895
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*, 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Liang, H., Zhu, J., Kong, X., Beydoun, M. A., Wenzel, J. A., & Shi, L. (2017). The patient-centered care and receipt of preventive services among older adults with chronic diseases: A nationwide cross-sectional study. *INQUIRY: The Journal of*

- *Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 54*(1), 1-11. doi:10.1177/0046958017724003
- Lim, H. M., & Kurniasanti, K. S. (2015). Shared decision making and effective physician-patient communication: The quintessence of patient-centered care. *International Journal of Medical Students*, *3*, 7-9. Retrieved from http://www.ijms.info/
- Lipshy, K. A. (2017). How do we improve patient safety? A look at the issues and an interview with Dr. Britt. *Bulletin of the American College of Surgeons*, *102*, 22-32. Retrieve from https://www.facs.org/
- Locatelli, S. M., Hill, J. N., Bokhour, B. G., Krejci, L., Fix, G. M., Nora Mueller, M., . . . LaVela, S. L. (2015). Provider perspectives on and experiences with engagement of patients and families in implementing patient-centered care. *Healthcare*, *3*, 209-214. doi:10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.04.005
- Locatelli, S. M., Turcios, S., & LaVela, S. L. (2015). Optimizing the patient-centered environment: Results of guided tours with health care providers and employees.

  \*\*HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal, 8, 18-30.\*\*

  doi:10.1177/1937586714565610
- Lor, M., Crooks, N., & Tluczek, A. (2016). A proposed model of person-, family-, and culture-centered nursing care. *Nursing Outlook*, 64, 352-366. doi:10.1016/j.outlook.2016.02.006
- Lowther, K., Harding, R., Ahmed, A., Gikaara, N., Ali, Z., Kariuki, H., . . . Selman, L. (2016). Conducting experimental research in marginalised populations: Clinical

- and methodological implications from a mixed-methods randomised controlled trial in Kenya. *AIDS Care*, 28(1), 60-63. doi:10.1080/09540121.2016.1146214
- Lub, V. (2015). Validity in qualitative evaluation. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 14(5), 1-8. doi:10.1177/1609406915621406
- Maggio, R. (2016). The unbearable impossibility of fieldwork: Ethnographic dilemmas, moral laboratories and narrative phenomenology. *Journal of the Anthropological Society of Oxford*, 8, 190–206. Retrieved from http://www.anthro.ox.ac.uk/
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mamlin, B. W., & Tierney, W. M. (2016). The promise of information and communication technology in healthcare: extracting value from the chaos. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, *351*, 59-68.

  doi:10.1016/j.amjms.2015.10.015
- Manary, M., Staelin, R., Kosel, K., Schulman, K. A., & Glickman, S. W. (2015).
  Organizational characteristics and patient experiences with hospital care: A survey study of hospital chief patient experience officers. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 30, 432-440. doi:10.1177/1062860614539994
- Manchikanti, L., Helm Ii, S., Benyamin, R. M., & Hirsch, J. A. (2017). Evolution of US health care reform. *Pain Physician*, 20, 107-110. Retrieved from http://www.painphysicianjournal.com

- Manogaran, G., Thota, C., Lopez, D., Vijayakumar, V., Abbas, K. M., & Sundarsekar, R. (2017). *Big data knowledge system in healthcare*. In C. Bhatt, N. Dey, & A.S. Ashourdoi Editor (Eds.), In *Internet of things and big data technologies for next generation healthcare*. (pp.133-157). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-49736-5
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Martin, A. B., Hartman, M., Washington, B., & Catlin, A. (2017). National health spending: Faster growth in 2015 as coverage expands and utilization increases. *Health Affairs*, *36*, 166-176. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1330
- Martin-Misener, R., Harbman, P., Donald, F., Reid, K., Kilpatrick, K., Carter, N., . . . DiCenso, A. (2015). Cost-effectiveness of nurse practitioners in primary and specialised ambulatory care: Systematic review. *BMJ Open*, *5*(6), 1-14. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007167
- Marwick, A. E. (2014). Ethnographic and qualitative research on Twitter. *Twitter and Society*, 109-122. Retrieved from http://www.pdfs.semanticscholar.org
- McCulloch, A.E., (2017). Connecting our community to the care it needs. *Healthcare Executive*, 32, 52-55. Retrieved from www.healthcareexecutive.org
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McGinnis, J., Diaz, A., & Halfon, N. (2016). Systems strategies for health throughout the life course. *JAMA*, *316*, 1639-1640. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.14896

- McGough, P., Kline, S., & Simpson, L. (2017). Team care approach to population health and care management. *International Journal of Health Governance*, 22, 93-103. doi:10.1108/IJHG-11-2016-0048
- McHugh, M., Harvey, J. B., Hamil, J., & Scanlon, D. P. (2016). Improving care delivery at the community level: An examination of the AF4Q legacy. *The American Journal of Manage Care*, *12*, s393-s402. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- McIntosh M., & Morse J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2(1) 1-12. doi:10.1177/2333393615597674
- Mcintosh, S., Kamei, Y., Adams, B., & Hassan, A. E. (2016). An empirical study of the impact of modern code review practices on software quality. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 21, 2146-2189. doi:10.1007/s10664-015-9381-9
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Millar, R., Freeman, T., & Mannion, R. (2015). Hospital board oversight of quality and safety: A stakeholder analysis exploring the role of trust and intelligence. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15,196-208. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0771-x
- Miller, W. R., & Moyers, T. B. (2017). Motivational interviewing and the clinical science of Carl Rogers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 85, 757-766. doi:10.1037/ccp0000179

- Miller, B. F., Ross, K. M., Davis, M. M., Melek, S. P., Kathol, R., & Gordon, P. (2017).
  Payment reform in the patient-centered medical home: Enabling and sustaining integrated behavioral health care. *American Psychologist*, 72, 55-68.
  doi:10.1037/a0040448
- Millenson, M. L., Shapiro, E., Greenhouse, P. K., & DiGioia, A. M. (2016). Patient- and family-centered care: A systematic approach to better ethics and care. AMA Journal of Ethics, 18, 49-55. doi:10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.1.stas1-1601
- Mitchell, M. L., Coyer, F., Kean, S., Stone, R., Murfield, J., & Dwan, T. (2016). Patient, family-centered care interventions within the adult ICU setting: An integrative review. *Australian Critical Care*, 29, 179-193. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2016.08.002
- Moeyaert, M., Maggin, D., & Verkuilen, J. (2016). Reliability, validity, and usability of data extraction programs for single-case research designs. *Behavior Modification*, 40, 874-900. doi:10.1177/0145445516645763
- Mohammed, K., Nolan, M. B., Rajjo, T., Shah, N. D., Prokop, L. J., Varkey, P., &
  Murad, M. H. (2016). Creating a patient-centered health care delivery system: A systematic review of health care quality from the patient perspective. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 31, 12-21. doi:10.1177/1062860614545124
- Moon, K., Brewer, T., Januchowski-Hartley, S., Adams, V., & Blackman, D. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3), 1-20. doi:10.5751/ES-08663-210317

- Moore, L., Britten, N., Lydahl, D., Naldemirci, Ö., Elam, M., & Wolf, A. (2016). Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of person-centered care in different healthcare contexts. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *31*, 662-673. doi:10.1111/scs.12376
- Morgan, S., Pullon, S., & McKinlay, E. (2015). Observation of interprofessional collaborative practice in primary care teams: An integrative literature review. 

  International Journal of Nursing Studies, 52, 1217-1230.

  doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.03.008
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, 27, 557-571. doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Analytic strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1317-1318. doi:10.1177/1049732315602867
- Nakrem, S. (2015). Understanding organizational and cultural premises for quality of care in nursing homes: An ethnographic study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, 508-521. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-1171-y
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and*

- guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Ndumele, C. D., Mor, V., Allen, S., Burgess, J. F., & Trivedi, A. N. (2014). Effect of expansions in state Medicaid eligibility on access to care and the use of emergency department services for adult Medicaid enrollees. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 174, 920-926. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.588
- Neville, C. W. (2018). Telehealth: A balanced look at incorporating this technology into practice. *SAGE Open Nursing*, *4*(1), 1-5. doi:10.1177/2377960818786504
- Nguyen, O. K., Makam, A. N., & Halm, E. A. (2016). National use of safety-net clinics for primary care among adults with non-Medicaid insurance in the United States. *Plos One*, *11*(3), 1-18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0151610
- Nielsen, M., Buelt, L., Patel, K., & Nichols, L. (2016). The patient-centered medical home's impact on cost and quality. *Annual Review of the Evidence*, 2014–2015.1-44. Retrieved from http://www.pcpcc.org
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18, 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Norman, J (2019) Healthcare once again tops list of Americans' worries. Retrieved from https://www.gallup.com/poll/248159/healthcare-once-again-tops-list-americans-worries.aspx
- Nowinski Konchak, J., Moran, M. R., O'Brien, M. J., Kandula, N. R., & Ackermann, R. T. (2016). The state of diabetes prevention policy in the USA following the

- Affordable Care Act. *Current diabetes reports*, *16*, 55-55. doi:10.1007/s11892-016-0742-6
- Obama, B. (2016). United States health care reform: Progress to date and next steps. *JAMA*, 316, 525-532. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.9797
- O'Cathain, A., Goode, J., Drabble, S. J., Thomas, K. J., Rudolph, A., & Hewison, J. (2014). Getting added value from using qualitative research with randomized controlled trials: A qualitative interview study. *Trials*, *15*, 1-12. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-15-215
- O'Cathain, A., Hoddinott, P., Lewin, S., Thomas, K. J., Young, B., Adamson, J., . . .

  Donovan, J. L. (2015). Maximising the impact of qualitative research in feasibility studies for randomised controlled trials: Guidance for researchers. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 32(1), 1-13. doi:10.1186/s40814-015-0026-y
- October, T. W., Hinds, P. S., Wang, J., Dizon, Z. B., Cheng, Y. I., & Roter, D. L. (2016).

  Parent satisfaction with communication is associated with physician patientcentered communication patterns during family conferences. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine*. 17, 490-497. doi:10.1097/PCC.00000000000000719
- Ogundipe, B. & Alam, F. & Gazula, L. & Olagbemiro, Y. & Osiezagha, K. & Bailey, R. K. & Richie, W. D. (2015). Remaking the American health care system: A positive reflection on the Affordable Care Act with emphasis on mental health care. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 26(1), 49-61. doi:10.1353/hpu.2015.0020

- Orom, H., Underwood III, W., Cheng, Z., Homish, D. L., & Scott, I. Y. (2018).

  Relationships as medicine: Quality of the physician–patient relationship

  determines physician influence on treatment recommendation adherence. *Health*Services Research, 53, 580-596. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12629
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paré, G., Trudel, M.-C., Jaana, M., & Kitsiou, S. (2015). Synthesizing information systems knowledge: A typology of literature reviews. *Information & Management*, 52, 183-199. doi:10.1016/j.im.2014.08.008
- Paternotte, E., van Dulmen, S., van der Lee, N., Scherpbier, A. J., & Scheele, F. (2015).

  Factors influencing intercultural doctor—patient communication: A realist review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *98*, 420-445.

  doi:10.1016/j.pec.2014.11.018
- Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001 et seq. (2010).
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research:

  Challenges from one study. *Nursing Ethics*, 23, 442-454.

  doi:10.1177/0969733014564909
- Phillips, N. M., Street, M., & Haesler, E. (2016). A systematic review of reliable and valid tools for the measurement of patient participation in healthcare. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25(2), 110-117. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004357

- Piña, I. L., Cohen, P. D., Larson, D. B., Marion, L. N., Sills, M. R., Solberg, L. I., & Zerzan, J. (2015). A framework for describing health care delivery organizations and systems. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*, 670-679. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.301926
- Pizzo, J. J., & Cohen, A. S. (2016). Four ways to better time the transition to value. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 61, 256-260. Retrieved from http://www.journals.lww.com
- Pizzo, J. J., & Ryan, D. L. (2016). Four strategies for succeeding with bundled payments.

  \*\*Journal of Health Care Management, 61, 314-318. Retrieved from http://www.ache.org/pubs/jhm/jhm\_index.cfm
- Pluut, B. (2016). Differences that matter: Developing critical insights into discourses of patient-centeredness. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy, 19*, 501-515. doi:10.1007/s11019-016-9712-7
- Pollard, S., Bansback, N., & Bryan, S. (2015). Physician attitudes toward shared decision making: A systematic review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98, 1046-1057. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.05.004
- Pomey, M. P., Hihat, H., Khalifa, M., Lebel, P., Néron, A., & Dumez, V. (2015). Patient partnership in quality improvement of healthcare services: Patients' inputs and challenges faced. *Patient Experience Journal*, 2, 29-42. Retrieved from https://pxjournal.org
- Ponelis, S. R. (2015). Using interpretive qualitative case studies for exploratory research in doctoral studies: A case of information systems research in small and medium

- enterprises. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 535-550. Retrieved from http://www.ijds.org
- Porter, M. E., & Kaplan, R. S. (2016). How to pay for health care. *Harvard Business Review*, 94, 88-100. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Porter, M. E., & Lee, T. H. (2015). Why strategy matters now. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 372, 1681-1684. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1502419
- Porter, M. E., & Lee, T. H. (2016). From volume to value in health care: The work begins. *JAMA*, *316*, 1047-1048. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.11698
- Pourat, N., Davis, A. C., Chen, X., Vrungos, S., & Kominski, G. F. (2015). In California, primary care continuity was associated with reduced emergency department use and fewer hospitalizations. *Health Affairs*, *34*, 1113-1120. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.1165
- Power, M. K., & Gendron, Y. (2015). Qualitative research in auditing: A methodological roadmap. *AUDITING: A Journal of Practice & Theory*, *34*, 147-165. doi:10.2308/ajpt-10423
- Price, R., & Elliott, M. N. (2018). Measuring patient-centeredness of care for seriously ill individuals: Challenges and opportunities for accountability initiatives. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 21, 28-35. doi:10.1089/jpm.2017.0452
- Rahul, R., Press, M. J., & Conway, P. H. (2015). The CMS innovation center A five-year self-assessment. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*, 1981-1983. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1501951

- Ranard, B. L., Werner, R. M., Antanavicius, T., Schwartz, H. A., Smith, R. J., Meisel, Z.
  F., . . . Merchant, R. M. (2016). Yelp reviews of hospital care can supplement and inform traditional surveys of the patient experience of care. *Health Affairs*, 35, 697-705. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1030
- Rashidian, A. (2015). Using qualitative evidence in decision making for health and social interventions: an approach to assess confidence in findings from qualitative evidence syntheses (GRADE-CERQual). *PLoS Medicine*, *12*(10), 1-18. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001895
- Raso, R. (2015). Value-based purchasing: Are you part of the shift? *Nursing Management*, 46(5), 24-31. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000463882.54082.64
- Rawson, J. V., & Moretz, J. (2016). Patient-and family-centered care: A primer. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 13, 1544-1549.

  doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2016.09.003
- Rice, T., Unruh, L. Y., Rosenau, P., Barnes, A. J., Saltman, R. B., & van Ginneken, E. (2014). Challenges facing the United States of America in implementing universal coverage. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 92, 894-902. doi:10.2471/blt.14.141762
- Richards, T., Coulter, A., & Wicks, P. (2015). Time to deliver patient centered care.

  \*British Medical Journal, 350(1), 1-2. doi:10.1136/bmj.h530
- Rimando, M., Brace, A. M., Namageyo-Funa, A., Parr, T. L., Sealy, D., Davis, T. L., Martinez, L. M., & Christiana, R. W. (2015). Data collection challenges and

- recommendations for early career researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 2025-2036. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Rivlin, A. & Daniel, W. (2015). Could Improving choice and competition in Medicare advantage be the future of Medicare?. *Forum for Health Economics and Policy*, 18, 151-168. doi:10.1515/fhep-2015-0046
- Robert, W. E. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling:

  How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment*& Blindness (Online), 109, 164-168. Retrieved from

  http://www.afb.org/info/publications/jvib/12
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Review in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rollow, W., & Cucchiara, P. (2016). Achieving value in primary care: The primary care value model. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *14*, 159-165. doi:10.1370/afm.1893
- Roosevelt, J., Burke, T., & Jean, P. (2014). Commentary on Part I: Objectives of the ACA. In H. P. Selker & J. S. Wasser (Eds.), *The Affordable Care Act as a National Experiment: Health Policy Innovations and Lessons* (pp. 9-15). doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-8351-9\_2
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77, 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147

- Rule, P., & John, V. M. (2015). A necessary dialogue. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(4), 1-11. doi:10.1177/1609406915611575
- Ryan, A. M., & Rodgers, P. E. (2018). Linking quality and spending to measure value for people with serious illness. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 21, S74-S80. doi:10.1089/jpm.2017.0496
- Santana, M. J., Manalili, K., Jolley, R. J., Zelinsky, S., Quan, H., & Lu, M. (2017). How to practice person-centered care: A conceptual framework. *Health Expectations*. 21, 429-440. doi:10.1111/hex.12640
- Schlesinger, M., Grob, R., & Shaller, D. (2015). Using patient-reported information to improve clinical practice. *Health Services Research*, 50, 2116-2154. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12420
- Schneider, H., Hill, S., & Blandford, A. (2016). Patients know best: Qualitative study on how families use patient-controlled personal health records. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(2), 1-22. doi:10.2196/jmir.4652
- Schottenfeld, L., Petersen, D., Peikes, D., Ricciardi, R., Burak, H., McNellis, R., & Genevro, J. (2016). Creating patient-centered team-based primary care. *Rockville:*\*Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 1-27. Retrieved September 1, 2018, from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality:

  https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/page/creating-patient-centered-team-based-primary-care
- Schreyer, K. E., & Martin, R. (2017). The economics of an admissions holding unit.

  Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 18, 553-558.

  doi:10.5811/westjem.2017.4.32740

- Schulenkorf, N., Sherry, E., & Rowe, K. (2016). Sport for development: An integrated literature review. *Journal of Sport Management*, *30*, 22-39. doi:10.1123/jsm.2014-0263
- Selleck, C. S., Fifolt, M., Burkart, H., Frank, J. S., Curry, W. A., & Hites, L. S. (2017).

  Providing primary care using an interprofessional collaborative practice model:

  What clinicians have learned. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *33*, 410-416.

  doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2016.11.004
- Sfantou, D., Laliotis, A., Patelarou, A., Sifaki-Pistolla, D., Matalliotakis, M., & Patelarou, E. (2017). Importance of leadership style towards quality of care measures in healthcare settings: a systematic review. *Healthcare*, *5*, 73-87. doi:10.3390/healthcare5040073
- Shapka, J. D., Domene, J. F., Khan, S., & Yang, L. M. (2016). Online versus in-person interviews with adolescents: An exploration of data equivalence. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 361-367. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.01.016
- Shaw, F. E., Asomugha, C. N., Conway, P. H., & Rein, A. S. (2014). The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act: Opportunities for prevention and public health. *The Lancet*, 384, 75-82. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60259-2
- Shi, L., Lee, D.-C., Chung, M., Liang, H., Lock, D., & Sripipatana, A. (2017). Patient-Centered Medical Home Recognition and Clinical Performance in U.S.
  Community Health Centers. *Health Services Research*, 52, 984-1004.
  doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12523

- Shin, P., Sharac, J., Barber, Z., Rosenbaum, S. J., & Paradise, J. (2015). Community health centers: A 2013 profile and prospects as ACA implementation proceeds. *Geiger Gibson/RCHN Community Health Foundation Research Collaborative*.

  3(1), 1-15. Retrieved from www.hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/
- Silver-Malyska, T. (2015). The U.S. Supreme Court Decision on King v. Burwell.

  \*Benefits Law Journal\*, 28(3), 4-9. Retrieved from https://www.lrus.wolterskluwer.com/Product.asp
- Sommers, B. D., Maylone, B., Blendon, R. J., Orav, E. J., & Epstein, A. M. (2017).

  Three-year impacts of the Affordable Care Act: Improved medical care and health among low-income adults. *Health Affairs*, *36*, 1119-1128.

  doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0293
- Sorsa, M. A., Kiikkala, I., & Åstedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Stanowski, A. C., Simpson, K., & White, A. (2015). Pay for performance: Are hospitals becoming more efficient in improving their patient experience? *Journal of Health Care Management*, 60, 268-286. Retrieved from http://www.journals.lww.com/jhmonline
- Stein, S. M., Day, M., Karia, R., Hutzler, L., & Joseph A. Bosco, I. (2015). Patients' perceptions of care are associated with quality of hospital care: A survey of 4605 hospitals. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 30, 382-388. doi:10.1177/1062860614530773

- Storkholm, M. H., Mazzocato, P., Savage, M., & Savage, C. (2017). Money's (not) on my mind: A qualitative study of how staff and managers understand health care's triple Aim. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*, 98-106. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2052-3
- Sturges, P., Bamkin, M., Anders, J. H. S., Hubbard, B., Hussain, A., & Heeley, M. (2015). Research data sharing: Developing a stakeholder-driven model for journal policies. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 66, 2445-2455. doi:10.1002/asi.23336
- Subramaniam, R. M., Jadvar, H., Colletti, P. M., Guimaraes, A., Gullapali, R., Iagaru, A. H., ... & Packard, A. B. (2017). ACR and SNMMI joint credentialing statement for PET/MRI of the Body. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 58, 1174-1176. doi:10.2967/jnumed.117.193524
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68, 226–231. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Tai-Seale, M., Olson, C. W., Li, J., Chan, A. S., Morikawa, C., Durbin, M., . . . Luft, H. S. (2017). Electronic health record logs indicate that physicians split time evenly between seeing patients and desktop medicine. *Health Affairs*, 36, 655-662. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0811
- Tanenbaum, S. (2015). What is patient-centered care? A typology of models and missions. *Health Care Analysis*, 23, 272-287. doi:10.1007/s10728-013-0257-0

- Tayabas, L. M. T., León, T. C., & Espino, J. M. (2014). Qualitative evaluation: A critical and interpretative complementary approach to improve health programs and services. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9(1), 1-7. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.24417
- Tinetti, M. (2016). Mainstream or extinction: Can defining who we are save geriatrics?

  \*\*Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 64, 1400-1404.\*\*

  doi:10.1111/jgs.14181
- Tsai, T. C., Joynt, K. E., Wild, R. C., Orav, E. J., & Jha, A. K. (2015). Medicare's bundled payment initiative: Most hospitals are focused on a few high-volume conditions. *Health Affairs*, *34*, 371-380. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0900
- Tsai, T. C., Greaves, F., Zheng, J., Orav, E. J., Zinner, M. J., & Jha, A. K. (2016). Better patient care at high-quality hospitals may save Medicare money and bolster episode-based payment models. *Health Affairs*, *35*, 1681-1689. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0361
- Twining, P., Heller, R. S., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C.-C. (2017). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Education*, *106*, A1-A9. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002
- Tzelepis, F., Sanson-Fisher, R. W., Zucca, A. C., & Fradgley, E. A. (2015). Measuring the quality of patient-centered care: Why patient-reported measures are critical to reliable assessment. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *9*, 831-835. doi:10.2147/PPA.S81975

- Van Hasselt, M., McCall, N., Keyes, V., Wensky, S. G., & Smith, K. W. (2015). Total cost of care lower among Medicare fee-for-service beneficiaries receiving care from patient-entered medical homes. *Health Services Research*, 50, 253–272. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12217
- Van Manen, M. (2017). Phenomenology in its original sense. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 810-825. doi:10.1177/1049732317699381
- Vaughn, T., Koepke, M., Levey, S., Kroch, E., Hatcher, C., Tompkins, C., & Baloh, J. (2014). Governing board, C-suite, and clinical management perceptions of quality and safety structures, processes, and priorities in U.S. hospitals. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 59, 111-128. Retrieved from https://journals.lww.com
- Viswanathan, M., Kahwati, L. C., Golin, C. E., Blalock, S. J., Coker-Schwimmer, E., Posey, R., & Lohr, K. N. (2015). Medication therapy management interventions in outpatient settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 175, 76-87. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.5841
- Vitak, J., Shilton, K., & Ashktorab, Z. (2016). Beyond the Belmont principles: Ethical challenges, practices, and beliefs in the online data research community.

  In Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, 2016, 941-953. doi:10.1145/2818048.2820078
- Wang, Y., Kung, L., & Byrd, T. A. (2018). Big data analytics: Understanding its capabilities and potential benefits for healthcare organizations. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *126*, 3-13. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2015.12.019

- Whitmore, C., Baxter, P. E., Kaasalainen, S., & Ploeg, J. (2018). Protocol for a case study to explore the transition to practice of new graduate nurses in long-term care.

  SAGE Open Nursing, 49(1), 1-11. doi:10.1177/2377960818797251
- Williams-Roberts, H., Abonyi, S., & Kryzanowski, J. (2018). What older adults want from their health care providers. *Patient Experience Journal*, *5*, 81-90. Retrieved from www.pxjournal.org/journal/
- Winn, K., Ozanne, E., & Sepucha, K. (2015). Measuring patient-centered care: An updated systematic review of how studies define and report concordance between patients' preferences and medical treatments. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98, 811-821. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.03.012
- Wright, A. L., Wahoush, O., Ballantyne, M., Gabel, C., & Jack, S. M. (2016). Qualitative health research involving indigenous peoples: Culturally appropriate data collection methods. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 2230-2245. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Yardley, L., Morrison, L., Bradbury, K., & Muller, I. (2015). The person-based approach to intervention development: Application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17(1), 1-16. doi:10.2196/jmir.4055
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 134-152. Retrieved from http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Yens, D. P., Brannan, G. D., & Dumsha, J. Z. (2014). A Research primer, part 2:

- Guidelines for developing a research project. *Journal of the American Osteopathic Association*, 114, 41-51. doi:10.7556/jaoa.2014.006
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th.ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2015). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (2nd.ed). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Yurkiewicz, S. (2016) Decentering the doctor: The critical value of a patient care collective. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, *18*, 960-964. doi:10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.9.mnar1-1609.
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 27, 13-15. doi:10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zill, J. M., Scholl, I., Härter, M., & Dirmaier, J. (2015). Which dimensions of patient-centeredness matter? Results of a web-based expert Delphi survey. *PLoS One*, *10*(11), 1-15. doi.10.1371/journal.pone.0141978
- Zuvekas, S. H., & Cohen, J. W. (2016). Fee-for-service, while much maligned, remains the dominant payment method for physician visits. *Health Affairs*, *35*, 411-414. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1291

## Appendix A: Study Protocol

Strategies for Achieving Patient-Centered Healthcare and Cost Containment

A. Overview of the Case Study

- 1. The goal of this qualitative descriptive case study is to explore patient-centered strategies from the perspective of the healthcare manager work at full-service acute care hospital in Virginia that services patients from rural communities.
- 2. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study using Yin's (2014) analysis process is to understand what patient-centered strategies healthcare managers use to reduce the cost of elderly patients' healthcare without reducing the quality patient care. Hyett et al. (2014) suggest healthcare researchers require qualitative research skills to interpret data collection, the nature of a healthcare system, and the organizational structure. A descriptive case study design provides the researcher the means to focus on one or multiple subjects via observation repeatedly over a defined spectrum of time until ones achieve their desired outcomes (Moeyaert, Maggin, & Verkuilen, 2016).

## B. Protocol Purpose

Yin (2014) emphasizes that researchers establish a protocol when conducting a qualitative study. Using a protocol aids in establishing validation for a researcher's study (Moeyaert, Maggin, & Verkuilen, 2016).

## C. Data Collection Procedures

1. The researcher will provide the interviewees' schedules and establish availability.

- 2. The researcher will use open-ended semistructured questions and additional questions as needed.
- 3. The researcher will establish the location in agreement with the participants.
- 4. The researcher will conduct several activities before contacting the participants by face-to-face, telephonic, virtual, and email.
  - a. Send invitations via email and other forms of communication before initiating the interviews
  - b. Review the hospital's annual reports and other documents
  - c. Distribute informed consent forms to each participant
  - d. Review interview procedures and National Institute of Health (NIH) Protecting

    Human Research Participants standards
- D. Guide for the Case Study Report
  - The researcher will use the format of this case study as depicted in the Walden University Doctoral study rubric and research handbook.
  - The researcher anticipated viewers of the content of this case study are non-profit
    and for-profit healthcare organizations, patient centered advocacy agencies, thinktanks, and academia.

## Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. How do you, as a healthcare manager, view patient-centered strategies, for example, patient-centered medical homes, accountable care organizations, personcentered care, person-focus care, and client-centered care as a means of reducing the cost of elderly patient healthcare?
- 2. What are advantages of patient-centered strategies in reducing elderly healthcare costs?
- 3. What patient-centered strategies have the board of directors supported to improve healthcare delivery and operational cost?
- 4. How do you measure the effectiveness of patient-centered strategies?
- 5. How did your organization address key challenges to implement successful patient-centered strategies without reducing the quality of elderly patient care?
- 6. How do you communicate patient-centered strategies with staff at all levels to improve quality care and reduce the cost of elderly patient care?
- 7. How, if at all, has the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) affected your ability to implement patient-centered strategies and maintain quality patient care?
- 8. How do you turn patient-centered care strategies into a competitive advantage?
- 9. How will your patient-centered care strategies improve the quality of care and fit into the healthcare reform movement?
- 10. What other information would you like to add that these questions might not have addressed?